
AGENDA 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Commission 
Wednesday, May 8, 2024  7:00 p.m. 

 

LOCATION:  Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road  Auburn Hills, MI 

 

PHONE: 248-364-6900   www.auburnhills.org 
Meeting minutes are on file in the City Clerk’s office. 

 
 
1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL OF PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
3. PERSONS WISHING TO BE HEARD (regarding items not on the agenda) 

 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – April 3, 2024 

 
5. PETITIONERS 

 
 5a. Penske Vehicle Services 

Public Hearing / Motion - Recommendation to City Council for Special Land Use Permit (landbank parking, 
outside storage of vehicles, and light industrial use), Revised Site Plan, and Revised Tree Removal Permit 
approval 

 
 5b. Joslyn Road Fuel Station (Mobil) 

Public Hearing / Motion - Recommendation to City Council for combined PUD Step One – Qualification / Step 
Two – Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit approval  

 
6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None 

 
7. NEW BUSINESS – None 

 
8. COMMUNICATIONS 

 
9. NEXT SCHEDULED MEETING – Wednesday, June 5, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. – Council Chamber 

 
10. ADJOURNMENT   
 NOTE: Anyone planning to attend the meeting who needs special assistance under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is 
asked to contact the City Clerk's Office at 248-370-9402 or the City Manager's Office at 248-370-9440 48 hours before the meeting.  
Staff will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements.  

 
 

 
 
 

IMPORTANT NOTICE TO PETITIONERS 
Items will be presented to the City Council on Monday, May 20, 2024. It will be necessary for you to 
have a representative present to answer any questions from the City Council.  CITY COUNCIL WILL 
NOT ACT ON YOUR ITEM IF YOU OR YOUR REPRESENTATIVE ARE NOT PRESENT. 

http://www.auburnhills.org/


CITY OF AUBURN HILLS  
PLANNING COMMISSION  

MINUTES 
NOT YET APPROVED 

 
CALL TO ORDER:  Chairperson Ouellette called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL: Present: Sam Beidoun, Dominick Tringali, Jack Ferguson, Cynthia Pavlich, Laura Ochs, 

Chauncey Hitchcock, Greg Ouellette 
 Absent: Carolyn Shearer, Ray Saelens 

Also Present:  Director of Community Development Steve Cohen, and Assistant to the Director of 
Community Development Devin Lang 
Guests: 6 

 
LOCATION:  Council Chambers, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI  48326 
 
3.   PERSONS WISHING TO BE HEARD 
 
4.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES – March 6, 2024 
 
Moved by Beidoun to approve the minutes of March 6, 2024. 
Second by Ferguson. 
VOTE: Yes: Beidoun, Ferguson, Ochs, Pavlich, Tringali, Hitchcock, Ouellette 
 No: None         Motion Carried (7-0) 
 
5.   PETITIONERS 
 
5a.   Greystone Pickleball Club – Auburn Hills (7:02 p.m.) 
Public Hearing/Motion – Recommendation to City Council for combined PUD Step One – Qualification/Step 
Two – Site Plan approval to construct an indoor recreational facility and event venue. 
 
Mr. Cohen explained that this is a request from Greystone Pickleball Club, LLC for Planned Unit Development 
Option (PUD) approval to construct a 60,528 square-foot indoor recreational facility and event venue on a 4.7-acre 
site located east of N. Opdyke, north of Featherstone Road.  The development is proposed to occupy three vacant 
parcels, currently zoned B-2, General Business District and T&R, Technology and Research District.  The land was 
previously used as an overflow parking lot for the former Pontiac Silverdome. 
 
Greystone Pickleball Club, LLC proposed constructing this state-of-the-art 18-court pickleball facility to serve the 
growing demand for this recreational activity.  The facility will also have the flexibility and amenities to host special 
events like corporate parties and tournaments since it will have a full kitchen and central gathering area.   
 
Staff has recommended the PUD option be used for implementing the proposed project. The site has two zoning 
districts (B-2 and T&R Districts) and three typical Special Land Use Permit components (indoor recreational facility, 
event venue, and outdoor seating). Landscape requirements will be met, except for minimum greenspace 
requirements. A deviation is requested as the site will have 18% greenspace instead of 20%. A high-quality 
landscape with additional trees and shrubs will be provided. 
 
Greystone Pickleball Club, LLC has also agreed to enter into a Development Agreement with the City to provide a 
portion of the facility’s pickleball court capacity at a twenty percent (20%) discounted rate on all court rentals for 
Auburn Hills residents and Auburn Hills business residents to be administered by the City’s Recreation Department. 
 
The overall investment in the property is estimated at $13 million, and construction is anticipated to begin this 
summer and be completed by the summer of 2025. 
 
Patrick Chisholm, Greystone Pickleball Club LLC, Franklin, TN, presented the proposal and was available to 
answer any questions the Commission had. Mr. Chisholm wanted the Planning Commission to know that he has 
worked as a developer in many communities nationwide and has never encountered staff as helpful and professional 
as in Auburn Hills. 

April 3, 2024 

 

  



Auburn Hills Planning Commission – April 3, 2024 
Page 2 of 3 
 
The Commission asked about the following: 
 

1. The number of employees expected daily; 
2. The adequacy of the number of charging stations; 
3. The number of similar developments by the applicant; 
4. The access and maintenance agreement for the shared access; 
5. Peak hours; 
6. The landscaping adjustment and the potential for a precedent; 
7. The walking path along Opdyke and potential issues with pedestrians and bicycles; 
8. How the event space would work; 
9. Open play vs. walk-in use; 
10. Anticipated rates. 

 
Mr. Chisholm explained that there will be a combination of full-time and hourly staff.  There will be 6-7 full-time staff 
and approximately 14-15 hourly staff, including eight professionals for instruction.  He also stated that they will 
discuss additional EV charging stations with City staff because there is more parking than required. 
 
Mr. Chisholm stated that while he is a real estate developer, this project is more of a family project and the first one 
of its kind in which he has been involved. The shared access and maintenance agreement from the site south to 
Featherstone Road is already in place. 
 
Mr. Chisholm explained that any lull in usage would probably be in the early afternoon. Weekends are anticipated 
to be the busiest, but with lessons and open play/walk-in use, the peak hours could be spread throughout the day. 
The expected hours of operation are 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. This is intended to be a public facility available for 
events. The owners plan to be active with the Auburn Hills Chamber of Commerce. The interior of the facility will 
have removable partitions and nets. This will allow the space to be used for various event activities, including 
weddings, classic car shows, etc.  
 
Mr. Cohen explained that the landscape area adjustment has been done before on other projects and does not set 
a precedent. 
 
Mr. Chisholm acknowledged that pedestrian traffic concerns are an issue with every development, and it is 
necessary to educate the public. 
 
Mr. Chisholm explained pickleball's player skill level system and the difference between open play and walk-in.  
There will also be league and tournament play opportunities.  Most facilities charge $10/hour per person. 
 
Mr. Ouellette opened the public hearing at 7:20 p.m. 

There being no public comments, Mr. Ouellette closed the public hearing at 7:20 p.m. 

Moved by Hitchcock to recommend to City Council approval of the combined PUD Step One – Concept 
Plan and PUD Step Two – Site Plan for the Greystone Pickleball Club – Auburn Hills subject to the 
conditions of the City’s Administrative Review Team.  
Second by Ferguson. 
VOTE: Yes:  Ochs, Hitchcock, Tringali, Beidoun, Ferguson, Pavlich, Ouellette 
 No:    None         Motion Carried (7-0) 

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None. 
 
7. NEW BUSINESS – None. 
 
8. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Mr. Cohen stated that one project, Penske Vehicle Services, is anticipated to be considered at the May 8, 2024 
meeting. 
 



Auburn Hills Planning Commission – April 3, 2024 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
9. NEXT SCHEDULED MEETING 
 
The next scheduled meeting is on Wednesday, May 8, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. in the Auburn Hills Council Chambers.   
 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, Chairperson Ouellette adjourned the meeting at 7:25 p.m.  
 
Submitted by: 
Susan McCullough, MiPMC III, CMC 
Recording Secretary 
 
 



 

   

 

MEETING DATE:  MAY 8, 2024 AGENDA ITEM NO 5a. 

 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

To:  Chairperson Greg Ouellette and the Planning Commission 
From: Steven J. Cohen, AICP, Director of Community Development 
Submitted: May 2, 2024 
Subject: Penske Vehicle Services – 2150 Executive Hills Court 

Public Hearing / Motion – Recommendation to City Council for Special Land Use Permit 
Revised Site Plan, and Revised Tree Removal Permit approval  

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
This is a request from Penske Vehicle Services for approval to complete construction and utilize the 
existing speculative 114,366-square-foot facility at 2150 Executive Hills Court. Penske Vehicle Services 
intends to operate a state-of-the-art vehicle painting facility with associated overnight vehicle storage on 
the property that will primarily provide custom paint enhancements for new vehicles directly from the 
assembly line. The 10.12-acre parcel is zoned T&R, Technology and Research District.   

 
  
Penske Vehicle Services is a wholly owned subsidiary of Penske Truck Leasing Co., LP., a leading global 
transportation services provider and part of the Penske Corporation collection of companies.  Penske 
Vehicle Services operates in seven locations across the United States and Canada, with two other locations 
within the City of Auburn Hills - 4400 Purks Road (I-1 District) and 2301 Featherstone Road (T&R District). 
 

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

Bird’s-eye view of the building looking north from M-59 



Page 2 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SITE HISTORY 
The property's developers are Dembs Development Company and Schostak Brothers & Company, Inc. The 
site plan for the project, originally called Executive Hills North—Unit 10—Speculative Building, was 
approved by the City Council on April 22, 2019.  Land balancing began in the Fall of 2019, and the shell of 
the building and site improvements were substantially complete one year later.   
 
The facility was initially proposed to house a high-tech research and development company utilizing an 
equal mix of office and laboratory/shop space.  However, Dembs/Schostak has been unable to secure a 
tenant with those specifications over the past four years due to changes in how many companies utilize 
office space since the COVID-19 pandemic.  It is noted that the adjacent building to the west, located at 
2110 Executive Hills Court, previously occupied by Cooper Standard, has also been vacant since late 2019. 
 
Staff met with representatives of Penske Vehicle Services on March 21, 2024, and toured their facility in 
Troy.  After observing their clean industrial operations, staff believe using 2150 Executive Hills Court for 
vehicle painting and assembly plant repairs would be appropriate for the site.   
 
The development application for Penske Vehicle Services involves the following three Special Land Use 
Permits, which are outlined in this report: 
1. Light industrial use in the T&R District 
2. Overnight storage of vehicles 
3. Landbank parking 
 

Aerial photo of site location 

Existing (to remain) - Penske 
Vehicle Services facility with 
vehicle storage servicing 
Stellantis (2301 Featherstone) 

Proposed - Penske Vehicle 
Services facility with vehicle 
storage (2150 Executive Hills Ct.) 

 

Featherstone Road 

M-59 

I-75 



Page 3 
 
 
KEY ISSUES 
1. Light Industrial Use.  The 2150 Executive Hills Court building will be primarily dedicated to the low 
volume, high-end custom painting of newly finished vehicles before being sold by OEMs to individual 
consumers as unique special edition vehicles. A Special Land Use Permit is requested to allow the 
building to be predominantly used for production painting and assembly plant repairs, which are light 
industrial uses. A small office area with 5,896 square feet of space (5.2% of the building) will be provided 
for administrative purposes at the southwest corner of the building.   

 
Penske Vehicle Services plans to invest approximately $6 million in the facility and ramp up employment 
from 75 to 130 positions (80% skilled) over two shifts. The first shift will be from 6:00 a.m. to 2:30 p.m. 
(approximately 50 people), and the second shift will be from 9:00 p.m. to 5:30 a.m. (approximately 25 
people). The facility will operate Monday through Friday, with occasional work on Saturday and, in rare 
instances, on Sunday.  
 
The company anticipates processing around 32 vehicles per day upon start-up, with the goal of ramping 
up to 60 vehicles per day.  Production will begin with its growing paint film program upon the facility's 
opening, with special edition “wet painting” added when capacity is needed.  Trucks transporting the new 
vehicles to and from the OEMs are anticipated to be ten haulers, along with two to four box trucks or 
tractor/trailers, in and out daily between 6:00 a.m. and 4:30 p.m.  A skeleton crew of employees will be 
on-site after the end of the first shift to facilitate deliveries and vehicle processing. 
 
The bulk of the building’s floor space will be dedicated to the company’s paint film program, which has a 
“clean room” high-tech feel to its operation as the dirt and dust will ruin the application process.  The new 
space in Auburn Hills is needed as the company has secured business contracts with Ford Motor Company 
to add paint film to upgraded Bronco and Mustang models, with anticipated business growth into two 
other Ford models and other OEM vehicles.  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 4 
 
 
KEY ISSUES (cont.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
While the majority of the work will be paint film applications, the facility may also be used for their wet 
painting program, which involves disassembling parts of a vehicle, like a roof or hood, and painting the 
components with unique colors and designs, making it a special edition or “buzz” model of the vehicle.  A 
few examples of this paint upgrade are the black stripe down the center of the Ford Mustang Shelby 
GT500, Dodge SRT Demon/Hellcat/Redeye with a black hood, roof, and tail, and Lincoln Navigator Black 
Label with a black roof.        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Paint film application on a Ford Mustang 

Wet paint application 



Page 5 
 
 
KEY ISSUES (cont.) 
Lastly, as outlined, the building's primary use will be for low-volume custom paint production services; 
however, depending on market demand and contracts, Penske Vehicle Services may utilize space at this 
facility in the future for specialized, low-volume mechanical and assembly services and fleet lifecycle 
management services for OEMs, similar to their operations at 4400 Purks Road and 2301 Featherstone 
Road.  Examples of those services are the following: 
 The custom creation of unique show cars of the highest quality for auto shows, product reveals, press 

events, advertising photoshoots, product placements, and ride-and-drive events. 
 Modifications to electric vehicle products, addressing quality holds and end-of-line support. 
 Vehicle retrofit assembly, such as return to standard and upfitting, along with internal combustion 

engine to electric vehicle conversion. 
 Prototype vehicles and component assemblies, such as future model year conversion and specialized 

projects. 

 
2. Outside Storage of Vehicles.  A Special Land Use Permit is requested to store up to 244 brand-new 
vehicles overnight in the parking lot.  There are 320 parking spaces within the facility’s parking lot.  The 
remaining 76 parking spaces will be for employee and visitor parking.  City staff requested that Penske 
Vehicle Services upgrade the tree and shrub plantings along the frontage of Executive Hills Boulevard 
and Executive Hills Court to improve the screening of the vehicle storage from the two roadways.  
 
3. Landbank Parking.  A Special Land Use Permit is requested to landbank 111 parking spaces 
required by the Zoning Ordinance (187 spaces are required based on the floor area – 76 spaces 
provided = 111 spaces deficient to be landbanked).  Penske Vehicle Services has explained that its 
manufacturing operations are less labor-intensive than those of a conventional light industrial business 
due to the skilled nature of its processes.  The 76 parking spaces provided outside the secured overnight 
vehicle storage area will provide enough employee and visitor parking for the company’s existing and  

Illustrated site plan 

Outside Storage 
of New Vehicles 

Employee/Visitor 
Parking 

76 

135 

109 



Page 6 
 
 
KEY ISSUES (cont.) 
future needs.  The 320-space parking lot is large enough to accommodate additional employees, if 
needed in the future, via the reduction of space dedicated to vehicle storage. 
 
4.  Upgraded Building Facade. Staff commends the developers for following its recommendation and 
upgrading the north and west façades of the building with windows, awnings, and color bands to 
improve their appearance from the adjacent roadways. This is a nice improvement to the building, which 
currently has a blank wall. 
  

Current condition – view of the façade from Executive Hills Boulevard 

Proposed condition – view of the façade from Executive Hills Boulevard 



Page 7 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Please be advised that the City’s Administrative Site Plan Review Team has reviewed this project and 
recommended approval. 
 
We recommend Approval of the Special Land Use Permit requests to allow for the light industrial use of 
the building, outside storage of vehicles, and landbank parking and offer the following discretionary 
findings of fact: 
1. The location of the use will not negatively impact adjacent areas, which include non-residential 

zoned property. 
2. The land will be used in accordance with its immediate character, which is planned and zoned for 

non-residential development. 
3. The requirements of Section 1818 in the City’s Zoning Ordinance will be met. 
4. The use will promote the purpose and intent of the City’s Zoning Ordinance. 
5. The use will be consistent with the health, safety, and general welfare of the City of Auburn Hills and 

the purpose and intent of the City’s Zoning Ordinance. 
 
We recommend Conditional Approval of the Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit and offer the following 
discretionary findings of fact: 
1. The Site Plan contains sufficient basic information required by the Zoning Ordinance for a 

recommendation. 
2. The requirements of Section 1815, Items 7A-7E of the Zoning Ordinance can be met as follows: 

a) All requirements and standards of the Zoning Ordinance and other City Ordinances can be met. 
b) Safe, convenient vehicular and pedestrian ingress/egress has been depicted; primary access will 

be to Executive Hills Court. 
c) Traffic circulation features within the site and the location of parking areas avoid common traffic 

problems and can promote safety. 
d) A satisfactory and harmonious relationship will exist between the proposed development and 

the surrounding area. 
e) The proposed use will not have an unreasonable, detrimental or injurious effect upon the natural 

characteristics of the subject parcel, or the adjacent area. 
3. Based on the project’s total square footage, 187 parking spaces are required, and 76 parking spaces 

are depicted for employee/visitor parking. The site’s parking lot has 320 total parking spaces. A 
Special Land Use Permit is required for the landbank of 111 parking spaces (187 spaces required – 76 
spaces provided = 111 spaces deficient). 

4. The parking layout meets minimum requirements subject to Special Land Use Permit approval of 
landbank parking, and barrier-free parking spaces are provided (four are required, and four are 
provided).  One space is van accessible.  

5. Building and parking setback requirements will be met. 
6. Greenbelts will be provided. 
7. Landscape requirements will be met, and calculations have been submitted.     
8. A note indicates that exterior lighting shall meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.  Pole 

and wall-mounted lighting shall be shielded and directed downward.  Lamp bulbs and lenses shall 
not extend below the light fixture shields.  Light poles are designed to be 27 feet in height from the 
finished grade. 

9. A note indicates that signs shall meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.   
10. A note indicates that parking spaces shall be double-striped. 



Page 8 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION (cont.) 
11. Ground-mounted and roof-mounted mechanical equipment will be screened.   
12. A note indicates that outside storage, including pallet storage, overnight vehicles, and trailer storage, 

will not be permitted, except for the storage of up to 244 new vehicles allowed via the Special Land 
Use Permit. 

13. Eight-foot pathways are not required on this site along the south side of Executive Hills Boulevard or 
the east side of Executive Hills Court, per the City’s Non-Motorized Pathway Plan.  

14. A Tree Removal Permit is required – 700 replacement trees are required (586 from a previous mass 
grading and 114 new trees), and 176 replacement trees are proposed.  Due to site constraints, not 
all replacement trees can be planted on-site.  The remaining 524 trees are to be paid into the City’s 
Tree Fund for a total of $199,120 (524 x $380 = $199,120).   

15. The developer has agreed to prep the parking lot for eight electric vehicle charging stations. They 
will install electrical stubs at planned station locations and run a conduit from the power source to 
the stubs during construction to support the future installation of the charging stations when 
needed. 

 
Conditions: 
1. Dembs Development Company/Schostak Brothers & Company, Inc. shall pay $199,120 to the City’s 

Tree Fund before the City issues the Building Permit. 
2. Dembs Development Company/Schostak Brothers & Company, Inc. shall comply with the 

requirements of Section 2007. Performance Guarantees of the Zoning Ordinance. 
3. The three-part Special Land Use Permit approved for Penske Vehicle Services (e.g., light industrial 

use in the T&R District, overnight storage of vehicles, and landbank parking) shall only apply to this 
development application and business operation.  The permit shall expire if Penske Vehicle Services 
vacates the building. 

4. Site Plan approval shall be based on the representations made by Penske Vehicle Services, Dembs 
Development Company, and Schostak Brothers & Company, Inc., as documented in this report, 
submittal materials, and the public meeting minutes. 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
“Move to recommend to City Council approval of the Special Land Use Permit, Revised Site Plan, and 
Revised Tree Removal Permit approval for Penske Vehicle Services subject to the conditions of the 
City’s Administrative Review Team.” 
 
 
 





   

Planning Commission  
Public Notice 

 
 
Meeting Date, Time, and Location: 
 

Wednesday, May 8, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. 
City of Auburn Hills - City Council Chambers 
1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 

Project Name: Penske Vehicle Services 
 

General Property Location: 2150 Executive Hills Court 
Sidwell No. 14-26-126-032 
 

Applicant: Glenn E. Jones, Dembs Development, Inc. – 248-721-0382 
 

Nature of the Request: Recommendation to City Council for Special Land Use Permit 
(landbank parking, outside storage of vehicles, and light industrial 
use), Revised Site Plan, and Revised Tree Removal Permit approval. 
 

City Staff Contact: Steven J. Cohen, AICP 
Director of Community Development - 248-364-6900 
 

 

Notice will be sent via U.S. Mail to properties within 1,000 feet of the site.  The proposed application can be 
inspected before the meeting at the Community Development Department, located on the municipal campus 
at 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326, during regular City business hours. 
 
Persons wishing to express their views may do so in person at the meeting or in writing addressed to the 
Planning Commission c/o Steven J. Cohen, Director of Community Development, at the above address. 
 
Anyone planning to attend the meeting who needs special assistance under the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk's Office at 248-370-9402 or the City Manager's Office at 248-
370-9440 48 hours before the meeting. Staff will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

LOCATION MAP 



 
 
 

memorandum 
 
 

 
 

Date: May 1, 2024 

 
 

To: Steven Cohen, Director of Community Development  

cc: Tim Juidici, OHM 

From: Hannah Driesenga, P.E. 

 
 

Re: Penske (2150 Executive Hills Drive, Unit 10)  

 
 
We have completed the site plan review for the above referenced project and the site plan appears to be in 
substantial compliance with City of Auburn Hills requirements. Therefore, we recommend approval of the plans 
conditioned on the addition of a grass paver atop the existing Detention Basin Maintenance Access Route 
Cross-Section. The site is located at 2150 Executive Hills Boulevard also known as Unit 10 of the Executive 
Hills North development. The site is zoned Technology & Research (T&R) and consists of an existing 117,819 
sq. ft. building proposed to be composed of a two-story office area and vehicle modification facility that will be 
occupied by Penske Vehicle Services. No changes are proposed to the public utilities or existing storm water 
management system as part of this modification. Site access and circulation are also not proposed to be 
changed at this time. If you have any questions or are in need of any further information, please feel free to 
contact our office.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 
 

                                                   
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Steve Cohen, Director of Community Development   
FROM:  Brandon Hollenbeck, Lieutenant  
DATE:  May 1, 2024 
SUBJECT:  Penske Automotive 2150 Executive Hills Blvd.  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
I have reviewed the updated site plans for Penske Automotive (previously approved in 2019), located at 
2150 Executive Hills Blvd. We have no objections to the project as presented in the site plans.   

POLICE DEPARTMENT 
1899 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, MI  48326  
 

    
 



1899 N SQUIRREL ROAD – AUBURN HILLS, MICHIGAN 48326 – (248) 370-9461 
 

 

   
 
 

 

Official Memorandum 
 
 
To: Steve Cohen, Director of Community Development 
From: Fred Solomon, Fire Inspector 
Date: May 1, 2024 
Re: Site Plan Review  
 
 
PROJECT:  Penske, 2150 Executive Hills Dr 
 

XXX Approved  
 Approved Subject to the following revisions: 

 Denied  
 
 
No comments 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Fred Solomon 
Fire Inspector 
Auburn Hills Fire Department 
 
  
 
 
 
 

AUBURN HILLS 
FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 
 

 



Site Specific, Inc. 

Site Specific, Inc. 
JULIE STACHECKI, ISA Certified Arborist MI-0650, TRAQ, MI Oak Wilt Qualified 

Howell, MI 48843 w 810.599.0343 w stachec1@me.com 
 

1 

May 1, 2024 
 
Steve Cohen, Director Com. Dev. 
City of Auburn Hills, Community Development Department 
1827 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 
Subject:  Woodlands Ordinance Review for Unit 10 of Executive Hills North Condo., 2150 

Executive Hills Drive, Auburn Hills, MI 
 
Dear Mr. Cohen, 
 The submittals regarding the above-mentioned project were reviewed and a site visit made 
to correlate information. This site was partially developed and landscaped in a previous 
development project that included mass grading.   See the tree detail chart below regarding this 
proposed project.  

TREE REQUIREMENT TABLE  
DESCRIPTION  TOTAL TREES Required/REPLACEMENT 

TREES 

Regulated Trees lost to Mass 
grading on original site 

700 700 

Removed Landmark Trees NA --- 

Trees Planned for site 176 176 

Trees paid into Tree Fund 524 trees @ $380/tree 524  

TOTAL Required Replacement 
Trees  

 700 

  
Applicant is providing 176 trees as designed in the associated plan. While some of the trees were 
installed during the initial site development, their condition must meet industry quality standards 
as part of the current projects’ approval. The soil condition is unfavorable for new plant material 
and must be amended, and graded to satisfy proper texture, structure and drainage.   The 
remaining 524 required replacement trees will be accounted for by paying into the City’s Tree 
Fund (524 x $380 = $199,120). The combination of planting 176 trees and contributing to the Tree 
Fund as stated satisfies the Woodlands Ordinance.   
 This project is approved based on the fulfillment and landscape strategy stated above, 
providing necessary soil condition improvements, and set of accompanying plans.  
 
Best regards, 
 
Julie Stachecki  
City of Auburn Hills Woodland Consultant 
 







April 30, 2024 

City of Auburn Hills  
Mr. Steven J. Cohen, AICP 
Director of Community Development 
1827 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

RE:  CITIZENS PARTICIPATION LETTER 
        DEVELOPMENT OF VACANT SITE – 2150 EXECUTIVE HILLS DR. 
        PARCEL ID 02-14-26-126-032 

Dear Mr. Cohen, 

In accordance with the City of Auburn Hills Citizen Participation Ordinance, we have mailed the at-
tached letter to seventy-eight (78) residents and/ or businesses using the address labels supplied 
by the City of Auburn Hills to us by your office on March 26, 2024. The letters were postmarked on 
April 1, 2024. 

To date, four (4) letters have been returned as undeliverable, marked, “return to sender, at-
tempted not known, unable to forward”.  We have received no other communication regarding 
the properties intended final use.  

If you have any questions or concerns, or would like any further information please feel free to con-
tact me at (248) 417-8402. 

Sincerely, 
Dembs Development, Inc. 

Glenn E. Jones  
Director of Operations 

encl. 



ERB  12/15/99 
Page 1 

EXCERPT 
 

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW BOARD 

December 15, 1999 

CALL TO ORDER:  Chairman Kresnak called the meeting to order at 6:34 p.m. 

ROLL CALL:  
  Present: Harvey-Edwards, Kresnak, Ostrowski, Peters, Petersen, Rowe 
  Absent: Barber  
  Also Present: Steve Cohen, City Planner, AICP, Andrew J. Foerg, CPG, EnecoTech 

Midwest, Inc. 
   
  2 guests 
 
LOCATION:   Civic Center, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills 48326 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
Executive Hills South Access Drive (Mass Grading) 
The woodlands public hearing was opened at 6:38 p.m. with Mr. Kresnak presenting the request for a tree 
removal permit to facilitate the mass grading of property generally located east of Opdyke Road, between 
Executive Hills Boulevard and M-59. Mr. Cohen referenced as follows his memo of December 8, 1999: 

Attached is a report from Woodlands Consultant Brian Colter, ACRT Inc. Dated November 30, 1999 
related to the above mentioned project.  Mr. Colter has conducted an on-site inspection to confirm 
plan correctness.  Mr. Colter has also noted that the petitioner intends to mass grade the site and 
remove of 1080 protected trees. 
 
The petitioner has agreed to provide a cash  bond or irrevocable letter of credit for $270,000.00 to 
cover the cost of replacement (1080 trees @ $250.00) per letter dated December 6, 1999. 
 
After the public hearing, if you find your questions satisfactorily answered it would be appropriate to 
move to recommend to City Council approval of a tree removal permit for Executive Hills 
South Access Drive (Mass Grading), subject to collection of a cash bond or irrevocable letter 
of credit for $270,000.00 
 

Mr. Kresnak called for comments from the petitioner.  Mr. Marlin Wroubel, Burton-Katzman, stated the 
reason this permit is needed is because of the topography of the land, one site being too high and one 
being too low.  It would be logical and feasible to grade both site locations at the same time in order to 
appropriate the soil evenly from one site to the other.  Mr. Wroubel added that they have given their 
landscaper free reign to be creative in replacing as many trees as possible, but did not have a figure on 
how many could be replaced.  
 
Mr. Jim Butler, Engineer for Burton-Katzman, assured the Board that potential siltation problems have 
been addressed with Oakland County with consideration being taken to the neighboring site on the east, 
Polyurethane.  Mr. Butler told of systems, including radon's, that would be placed to address the grading 
and improve the sloping curve from a 1 on 2 slope to a 1 on 4 slope. 
 
Mr. Wroubel answered the board by stating that he would welcome the opportunity to discuss further the 
option of putting in larger trees than the 2 ½ inch diameter trees that are ordinarily requested.  He also 
offered to have his landscaper perform a presentation to the board and answer any questions for them 
regarding his plans.  Mr. Kresnak called for comments from the audience.  There being none, the public 
hearing was declared held at 7:30 p.m. 
 



ERB  12/15/99 
Page 2 

Ms. Harvey-Edwards moved to recommend to City Council approval of a tree removal permit for 
Executive Hills South Access Drive (Mass Grading), subject to the following conditions: 1. 
Collection of a cash bond or irrevocable letter of credit for $270,000.00, 2. Developer to bring back 
tree replacement plans for ERB review as part of the site plan review process to ensure that size 
and diversity requirements are met for each building site, and 3. Vegetation shall be placed on any 
undeveloped land after 12 months from clearing date. 
 
Supported by Mr. Petersen. 
 
VOTE:    
Yes:  Harvey-Edwards, Kresnak, Ostrowski, Peters, Petersen, Rowe. 
 No:   None     
Motion carried (6-0) 
 
 



City Council - December 20, 1999 
Page 1 

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

EXCERPT 
 

 December 20, 1999 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Mayor McMillin called the Regular Council Meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. with the 

Pledge of Allegiance 
 
ROLL CALL: Present. Mayor McMillin, Mayor Pro Tem Cooper, Council Members Davis, 
  Harvey-Edwards, McDonald, Pillsbury, Sendegas  
  Absent. None 
                     Also Present. City Manager Ross, Public Works Director 
 Culpepper, City Planner Cohen, Finance Officer Martini, Assessor Bennett, 
 Police Chief Olko, Recreation Director Marzolf, Planning Consultant 
 Lehoczky, City Engineers Hiltz and Westmoreland, Insurance Consultant 
 Thornton, Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Member Capen, TIFA 
 Board Member Bennett 
 Attorney Beckerleg 
 40 Guests 
 
LOCATION:  Civic Center, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills MI 48326 
 
7.  CONSENT AGENDA 
• All items listed are considered to be routine by the City Council and will be enacted by one 

motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Council member or 
citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and 
considered in its normal sequence on the agenda. 

 
 
Ms. Cooper moved to approve consent agenda items as follows: 
 
7l.  Recommendation from the Environmental Review Board on a Tree Removal Permit for 
Executive Hills South Access Drive- to accept the Environmental Review Board’s recommendation and 
approve a tree removal permit for Executive Hills South Access Drive to facilitate the mass grading of 
property located east of Opdyke Road, between Executive Hills Boulevard and M-59 (14-26-126-029, 14-
26-126-030), subject to any conditions as recommended by all appropriate agencies. 
 
Supported by Ms. Sendegas. 
VOTE:  Yes: Cooper, Davis, Harvey-Edwards, McDonald, McMillin, Pillsbury, Sendegas 
   No: none 
 Motion carried (7-0) 
 



 
TREE REMOVAL / REPLANTING HISTORY 

 
 

 
Executive Hills South Access Drive (Mass Grading) 
December 1999 – Tree Removal Permit 
1080 trees were required to be replaced 
 
Two sites mass graded in Y2000:   
A. New Venture Gear / Cooper Standard / Now Vacant – 450 replacement trees planted in 2000/2001 
B. Dembs/Schostak Spec Building – 630 replacement trees were allocated to this site (note: only 

586 trees were removed during the mass grading). 
 

Y2019/Y2024 proposal for Parcel B 
(700 trees required:  586 from mass grading in Y2000 plus 114 new trees removed in 2019.  176 
replacement trees are proposed to be planted upon completion of the project.   
• Due to site constraints, not all replacement trees can be planted on-site.  The remaining 524 

trees are to be paid into the City’s Tree Fund for a total of $199,120 (524 x $380 = $199,120).   
 

2000 Aerial Photo 

 

A B 



CITY OF AUBURN HILLS  
PLANNING COMMISSION  

MINUTES - EXCERPT 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER:  Chairperson Ouellette called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL: Present:  Beidoun, Hitchcock, Mendieta, Moniz, Shearer, Ouellette, Pederson, Pierce,    

Absent:  Ochs 
Also Present:  Director of Community Development Cohen, City Planner Keenan, City Engineer 
Juidici 
Guests: 42 

 
LOCATION:  City Council Chamber, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI  48326 
 
 
5. PETITIONERS 
 
5b. Executive Hills North – Unit 10 – Speculative Building (8:45 p.m.) 

Public Hearing/Motion – Recommendation to City Council for approval of Site Plan and Tree Removal 
Permit 

 
Mr. Keenan introduced the request from Dembs Development Company to construct a 138,200 square foot 
Technology and Research building at the southeast corner of Executive Hills Boulevard and Executive Hills Court.  
The 10-acre parcel is zoned Technology and Research District.  Approximately 64,000 square feet of the building 
will be used for office space and the remaining 74,200 square feet is designated for laboratory purposes. 
 
Dembs Development Company is well-known for redeveloping the former Showcase Cinema property on Opdyke 
Road into the GKN Automotive and Martinrea International facilities.  The company, in partnership with Schostak 
Brothers and Company, intends to start construction on the building’s shell while they seek a tenant whose 
business needs are compatible with the uses specified in the City’s Zoning Ordinance Technology and Research 
District. 
 
Mr. Keenan stated that 700 replacement trees are required and 135 replacement trees are proposed.  All 
replacement trees cannot be planted on site due to site constraints so a payment into the City’s Tree Fund will be 
required. 
 
The City’s consulting engineer determined that Executive Hills Court needs repair.  The road is a private road and 
approximately 17-years old.  The developer will work with Cooper Standard and Genisys Credit Union who have 
frontage on the road to make the necessary improvements to the level deemed acceptable by the City’s engineer. 
 
Total investment in the project is estimated at $7 million.  Dembs intends to begin construction in June 2019, with 
completion taking place in the first quarter of 2020.   
 
Ryan Dembs, Dembs Development Company, 27750 Stansbury, Suite 200, Farmington Hills, MI  48334, was 
available to answer any questions of the Planning Commission. 
 
Mr. Pierce stated that there appears to be a lot of square footage is dedicated to office space.  Mr. Dembs 
explained that the 54,000 square feet is an estimate, and will be based on what the prospective tenant would 
require. 
 
Mr. Moniz stated that he would like to see a tenant committed to the site as soon as possible.  Mr. Dembs agreed, 
stating that his company builds them in such a way as to make them as flexible as possible.  He will begin working 
with brokers once construction begins. 
 
Mr. Mendieta asked about the total square footage of the project.  Mr. Dembs explained that the total square 
footage is 138,200, including the 2nd floor.  He further stated that it is possible that there would not be a second 
floor, depending on the needs of the tenant. 

        April 10, 2019 



Auburn Hills Planning Commission –April 10, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 
Mr. Hitchcock asked what the market studies show as far as the timetable for occupancy.  Mr. Dembs stated that 
he anticipates having a tenant in place before the building is complete, based on current market activity for the size 
and type of building. 
 
Mr. Ouellette opened the public hearing at 8:52 p.m. 
 
Michelle Matson, Genisys Credit Union, 2100 Executive Hills, Auburn Hills, MI  48326, expressed concern 
with the condition of Executive Hills Drive.  She stated some patching and pothole repair had been done, but 
construction traffic will cause more damage. 
 
City Engineer Juidici stated that because this is a private road, it is not under the jurisdiction of the City.  The road 
has deteriorated, and construction traffic will increase that.  He recommends that improvements be made at the 
time of construction which is listed as a condition of approval of the project. 
 
Ms. Matson asked about the possibility of a traffic light at Opdyke and Executive Hills.  Mr. Juidici stated that 
because Opdyke is a County road, the County would have to be contacted to see if this has been considered 
recently. 
 
Hearing no further comments, Mr. Ouellette closed the public hearing at 8:57 p.m. 
 
Moved by Mr. Hitchcock to recommend to City Council approval of the Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit 
for Executive Hills North – Unit 10 – Speculative Building subject to the conditions of the City’s 
administrative review team. 
Second by Ms. Shearer. 
VOTE: Yes: Mendieta, Hitchcock, Shearer, Pierce, Moniz, Beidoun, Pederson, Ouellette 
 No: None 
          Motion Carried (8-0) 
 



CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
Regular City Council Meeting 

MINUTES - EXCERPT 
April 22, 2019 

 
CALL TO ORDER: Mayor McDaniel at 7:00 p.m. 
LOCATION:  City Council Chamber, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

Present:  Mayor McDaniel, Council Members Burmeister, Hammond, Kittle, Knight, 
Moniz, and Verbeke 

     Absent:   None 
Also Present: City Manager Tanghe, City Attorney Beckerleg, Assistant City 
Manager Grice, City Clerk Pierce, Fire Chief Taylor, Police Chief Baker, Director of 
Community Development Cohen, City Planner Keenan, City Engineer Juidici, 
Deputy DPW Director Stahly, Mgr of Roads & Fleet See, Mgr of Municipal Properties  
Torres, Director of Authorities Skopek, Finance Director/Treasurer Schulz, Deputy 
Finance Director/Deputy Treasurer Farmer 
 
36 Guests 

 
4. NEW BUSINESS 
 
9b. Motion – To approve the Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit / Executive Hills North - Unit 10 - 

Speculative Building.  
Mr. Keenan presented a 10 acre T&R building to be located at Executive Hills Blvd and Executive Hills Court. 
The building will be used for office space and laboratory space.  The plans require 700 replacement trees.  
135 replacement trees will be placed on the site and the remaining amount will be paid into the City’s tree 
fund.  After construction is completed, Executive Hills Drive will be repaired but will still be classified as a 
private road.     
 
Christopher Inch, Dembs Development was present.  
 
Moved by Kittle, Seconded by Knight. 

RESOLVED:  To accept the Planning Commission’s recommendation and approve the 
Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit for Executive Hills North - Unit 10 - Speculative 
Building subject to the conditions of the City’s Administrative Review Team. 

VOTE: Yes:  Burmeister, Hammond, Kittle, Knight, McDaniel, Moniz, Verbeke 
 No: None 
Resolution No. 19.04.52       Motion Carried (7 - 0) 
 





4-30-24

Proposed Exterior Renovation Renderings for:

View 1



4-30-24

Proposed Exterior Renovation Renderings for:

View 2



















DESIG
LAND PLANNING / LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

557 Carpenter
Northville, Michigan 48167
e. jca@wideopenwest.com

t. 248.467.4668



DESIG
LAND PLANNING / LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

557 Carpenter
Northville, Michigan 48167
e. jca@wideopenwest.com

t. 248.467.4668



DESIG
LAND PLANNING / LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

557 Carpenter
Northville, Michigan 48167
e. jca@wideopenwest.com

t. 248.467.4668







 

   

 

MEETING DATE:  MAY 8, 2024 AGENDA ITEM NO 5b. 

 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

To:  Chairperson Greg Ouellette and the Planning Commission 
From: Steven J. Cohen, AICP, Director of Community Development 
Submitted: May 2, 2024 
Subject: Joslyn Road Fueling Station (Mobil) 

Public Hearing / Motion – Recommendation to City Council for combined PUD Step One 
– Qualification / Step Two – Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit approval  

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
This is a request from Bill Saad Properties, LLC, for Planned Unit Development Option (PUD) approval to 
construct a Mobil-branded passenger and commercial vehicle fueling station and convenience store on a 
5.07-acre parcel, zoned B-2, General Business District. The site is generally located west of Joslyn Road, 
south of Great Lakes Crossing Drive.   
 
The proposed development will consist of a passenger vehicle fueling area with 16 fueling positions in 
the front adjacent to Joslyn Road, a commercial vehicle area with three (3) fueling positions designed to 
accommodate semi-trucks in the rear adjacent to the landfill, and a 4,608-square-foot convenience 
store.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Construction on this project is expected to begin in Fall 2024 and be completed by Summer 2025. The 
overall investment is estimated at $4 million.  

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

Aerial photo of site location 



Page 2 
 
 
INTRODUCTION (cont.) 
This Mobil project proposed by Bill Saad Properties, LLC mirrors the site design of the Speedway 
fueling station project, which the City Council previously approved for the property on January 14, 
2019, but has since expired.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The development of the property has been delayed for the past five years because Speedway elected 
not to proceed with construction after learning the costs associated with the environmental cleanup of 
the land. This property abuts a sanitary landfill to the west, historically called the Joslyn Road Landfill 
(3951 Joslyn Road). The landfill, which closed in 1983, is unlined and was utilized between 1966 and 1979 
for the acceptance of industrial waste and general refuse from Pontiac Motors, Fisher Body, and the Cities 
of Detroit and Pontiac. The landfill has had negative environmental impacts on this property, as it was 
found to be contaminated by methane from the landfill and other chemicals.   Bill Saad Properties, LLC 
obtained the property in early 2023.  Mr. Saad came forward to the City with this proposal to construct a 
similar designed project to the one previously approved for Speedway under the Mobil brand.   
 
On May 16, 2023, the Auburn Hills Brownfield Redevelopment Authority approved a Brownfield Plan to 
facilitate the Mobil project.  Under the Brownfield Plan agreement, Bill Saad Properties, LLC will incur the 
costs for the cleanup and be reimbursed by the City/Authority when eligible tax revenues are available.  
The reimbursable costs are $572,337, and the planned payback is 30 years long. 
 
PUD OPTION USED TO IMPLEMENT THE PROPOSED PROJECT 
Like the previous Speedway proposal, staff recommends the PUD Option as the best mechanism for 
implementing the proposed Mobil project.  Two deviations from the Zoning Ordinance are required for 
this project: 

1. Allow a commercial vehicle fueling (semi-trucks) at a B-2 zoned fueling station. 
2. Allow the outside sales of merchandise within a screened enclosure south of the retail store.   

 
To meet the PUD qualification requirements, Bill Saad Properties, LLC has agreed to meet the conditions 
of the previous Speedway approval, including the commitment to donate $100,000 to the Auburn Hills 
Community Foundation to be used by the City for public purposes. 
 

2019 Speedway Project 2024 Mobil Project 

Side by side comparison of the PUD proposals for the property 



Page 3 
 
 
PUD OPTION USED TO IMPLEMENT THE PROPOSED PROJECT (cont.) 
This project benefits the City by facilitating the construction of a tax-producing business within this 
transitional commercial strip of land between the Joslyn Road Landfill and Joslyn Road.  It is noted that 
the development will help implement the vision of the City’s Non-Motorized Pathway Plan by providing 
an eight-foot-wide pathway along Joslyn Road.   The semi-truck/commercial vehicle fueling component 
will also benefit several of the businesses within the City by providing a close and convenient location to 
fuel their fleet vehicles and delivery trucks.  Lastly, the proposed project will include installing three (3) 
dual dispenser electric vehicle charging stations for six (6) fueling spaces. 
 
Below are renderings of the proposed Mobil fueling station from a motorist's perspective as viewed from 
Joslyn Road. 

 

 
Rendering of the proposed project looking north from Joslyn Road 

Rendering of the proposed project looking south from Joslyn Road 



Page 4 
 
 
KEY ISSUES 
1. Traffic Safety Review – Joslyn Road 

The driveways for this project will outlet to Joslyn Road.  Joslyn Road is under the jurisdiction of the 
Road Commission for Oakland County (RCOC).  A traffic study was conducted as part of the 
development process in 2018/2019 and submitted to the RCOC, Police Department, and OHM Advisors 
for review.  At the request of RCOC, a directional island was added to the northernmost drive to help 
ensure vehicles exiting the site at this drive turn right only.  The same conditions will apply to this 
updated project.  Bill Saad Properties, LLC will be required to work with the RCOC to ensure all access 
points meet their design requirements, including potential upgrades to the traffic signal at the 
intersection of Joslyn Road and Pacific Boulevard.   
 
It is noted that during the November 2018 review of the Speedway project by the Planning 
Commission, concerns were raised about the location of the proposed gas station and the safety of 
vehicles entering and leaving the site.   At that time, the Police Department and OHM Advisors took 
an additional look at these concerns. They physically surveyed the area on-site and found the project’s 
design was acceptable from a traffic safety standpoint.  The City Council accepted their findings and 
approved the project in January 2019.  With this updated Mobil project, the Police Department and 
the traffic engineers at OHM Advisors continue to find that the proposed site design is acceptable 
from a traffic safety standpoint. 

  

Diagram showing vehicle movements at the proposed fueling station 



Page 5 
 
 
KEY ISSUES (cont.) 
1. Traffic Safety Review – Joslyn Road (cont.)  

The RCOC, Police Department, and OHM Advisors have determined that adequate site distance will 
be provided along Joslyn Road after tree clearing and the addition of a new deceleration lane. These 
improvements will allow motorists to safely enter and exit the fuel station at the restricted Mobil 
North Drive (the design only allows a right turn at the site's north drive exit to minimize conflicts) and 
the traffic-controlled intersection at Pacific Boulevard and Mobil South Drive.   

 
  

Mobil 
Passenger 

Vehicle 
Entrance 

(north drive) 

New deceleration lane for Mobil 
passenger vehicle entrance 

Google street view of the southbound approach into the Mobil passenger vehicle North Drive 

Mobil Passenger 
Vehicle Entrance Only 
(north drive) 

New deceleration lane for Mobil 
passenger vehicle entrance 

Google street view looking north at southbound traffic approaching the Mobil passenger vehicle North Drive 

Mobil Passenger 
Vehicle Exit Only 
(north drive) 



Page 6 
 
 
KEY ISSUES (cont.) 
2. Commercial Vehicle Fueling Station (accommodates semi-trucks) 

As discussed previously, the Zoning Ordinance prohibits combining passenger vehicle fueling and truck 
fueling operations on the same site in the B-2 District, and PUD approval is sought to allow the proposal.  
The site has been designed to separate the passenger vehicle fueling area from the commercial vehicle 
fueling area.  The site is also designed to limit truck traffic to the southernmost drive.  Staff find the 
proposed joint passenger and commercial fueling operation to be acceptable since the two fueling 
areas are separated by the proposed convenience store, which will help reduce conflicts between 
passenger vehicles and trucks.  Overnight parking will be prohibited at the site. 
 

3. Outdoor Sales Area and Patio 
The plans identify an outdoor sales area located on the south side of the building.  Items stored in the 
area will be screened from the south, east, and west by an enclosure and north by the convenience 
store.  The walls of the enclosure are designed to match the building facade.  Items stored within the 
enclosure are limited to ice chests and propane tanks.  A small patio area is adjacent to the sales area. 
 

4. Buffer for Adjacent Home 
To help ensure the current residential home to the south, which is also zoned B-2 District, is not 
negatively impacted by the proposed development, the detention pond and a row of evergreen trees 
are proposed along the south property.  The vehicle/truck access drive is located 135 feet from the 
south property line, which, in addition to the screening, should help reduce impacts on the home. 

  

Illustrated site plan 

Screened Outdoor 
Sales Area 

Outdoor 
Patio Area 

Home 
(B-2 zoned) 

Semi-Truck Fueling Station 
(3 fueling positions) 



Page 7 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Please be advised that the City’s Administrative Site Plan Review Team has reviewed this project and 
recommended approval.   
 
We recommend Approval of the PUD Step One – Concept Plan and offer the following discretionary 
findings of fact: 
1. The project is eligible for the PUD option because it provides a recognizable net public benefit to the 

health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City of Auburn Hills and accomplishes the following: 
a. Permits flexibility in the regulation of land development. 
b. Encourages innovation in land use and variety in design, layout, and type of structures constructed. 
c. Achieves economy and efficiency in the use of land, natural resources, energy, and the provision 

of public services and utilities. 
d. Encourages useful open space. 
e. Provides employment and shopping opportunities suited to the needs of the residents of the City 

of Auburn Hills. 
2. The concept plan contains sufficient basic information required for a recommendation. 
3. The PUD Concept Plan promotes the land use goals and objectives of the City of Auburn Hills. 
4. There are adequate means of disposing of sanitary sewage and of supplying the development with 

water. 
5. The road system and stormwater drainage system are adequate. 
 
We recommend Conditional Approval of the PUD Step Two - Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit and offer 
the following discretionary findings of fact: 
1. The Site Plan contains sufficient basic information required by the Zoning Ordinance for a 

recommendation. 
2. The requirements of Section 1815, Items 7A-7E of the Zoning Ordinance can be met as follows: 

a) All requirements and standards of the Zoning Ordinance and other City Ordinances can be met. 
b) Safe, convenient vehicular and pedestrian ingress/egress has been depicted; primary access will 

be to Joslyn Road. 
c) Traffic circulation features within the site and the location of parking areas avoid common traffic 

problems and can promote safety. 
d) A satisfactory and harmonious relationship will exist between the proposed development and 

surrounding area. 
e) The proposed use will not have an unreasonable, detrimental or injurious effect upon the natural 

characteristics of the subject parcel, or the adjacent area. 
3. Based on the convenience store’s square footage, 30 parking spaces are required, and 30 parking 

spaces are depicted.  In addition, one space is provided for each fuel pump per the Zoning Ordinance. 
4. The parking layout meets minimum requirements, and barrier-free parking spaces are provided (two 

are required, and two are provided).  One space is van accessible.  
5. Building, canopy, and parking setback requirements will be met. 
6. Greenbelts will be provided. 
7. Landscape requirements will be met, and calculations have been submitted.  
8. A note indicates that exterior lighting shall meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.  Pole and 

wall-mounted lighting shall be shielded and directed downward.  Lamp bulbs and lenses shall not 
extend below the light fixture shields.  Light poles shall not be taller than the proposed height of 22 
feet from grade. 



Page 8 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION (cont.) 
9. A note indicates the canopy light fixtures will be recessed with the bottom of the canopy.  A note 

indicates the fascia of the canopy will not be illuminated per the Zoning Ordinance. 
10. A note indicates that signs shall meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.   
11. A note indicates that parking spaces shall be double-striped. 
12. Ground-mounted and roof-mounted mechanical equipment will be screened.   
13. A note indicates that no outside storage, including pallet storage, overnight vehicles, or trailer storage, 

will be allowed except as outlined in Item 14.  
14. A note indicates that all material, merchandise, and equipment shall be stored within the building, 

except merchandise stored outside within the designated merchandise enclosure area. Bill Saad 
Properties, LLC shall be responsible for ensuring that the items stored within the outside sales area 
shall not extend above or beyond the walls of the merchandise enclosure and in a manner to properly 
screen the contents from view from the road. Items stored within the enclosure are limited to ice 
chests and propane tanks unless otherwise approved by the Community Development Department 
and documented in the project file. 

15. A note indicates that the sale or rental of new cars or used cars, trucks, trailers, and any other vehicles 
on the premises shall be prohibited.  

16. Guard rails and pedestrian fall protection adjacent to the retaining walls shall be installed as 
determined necessary by the Building Official and OHM Advisors and shall meet City standards and 
aesthetic expectations. 

17. A note indicates an underground grease containment/trap and internal oil/grease management 
system (closed loop) will be utilized for the convenience store kitchen.  Above-ground grease 
containment systems shall be prohibited on the site. 

18. An eight-foot-wide pathway will be installed along Joslyn Road. Complete Streets considerations were 
made as part of the site design, and the development will provide a sidewalk connection between the 
pathway and the convenience store. 

19. A Tree Removal Permit is required - 14 replacement trees are required, and 95 replacement trees are 
proposed. 

20. Six (6) electric vehicle charging station spaces (served by three dual units) will be installed during 
construction.  Bill Saad Properties, LLC shall obtain appropriate permits from the City and comply with 
City electric vehicle station signage and pavement marking standards. 

 
Conditions 
1. Bill Saad Properties, LLC agrees to enter into a Development Agreement with the City as the project's 

Developer, which will outline the conditions of PUD approval. Within seven days from the date that all 
parties have executed and signed the Development Agreement, Bill Saad Properties, LLC shall pay the 
Auburn Hills Community Foundation a one-time lump sum payment of $100,000 to be used for public 
purposes at the sole discretion and decision of the Auburn Hills Community Foundation Board of 
Directors. 

2. Bill Saad Properties, LLC understands that the City does not permit the facility to operate as a truck 
stop or rest area, nor shall it be permitted to accommodate the prolonged standing/idling/parking of 
commercial or passenger vehicles.  Bill Saad Properties, LLC shall ensure that overnight vehicle parking, 
including semi-truck and trailer storage, does not occur at the site.  In addition, signs approved by the 
Community Development Department shall be posted and maintained on the site by Bill Saad 
Properties, LLC, outlining this condition of approval. 

 



Page 9 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION (cont.) 
3. Bill Saad Properties, LLC shall comply with the requirements of Section 2007. Performance Guarantees 

of the Zoning Ordinance. 
4. Bill Saad Properties, LLC shall apply to the Assessing Department for a land combination to create the 

site. 
5. Site plan approval shall be based on Bill Saad Properties, LLC's representations, as documented in this 

report, submittal materials, and the public meeting minutes. 
6. Bill Saad Properties, LLC agrees to complete the construction and development of the Joslyn Road Fuel 

Station by November 1, 2025.   
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 “Move to recommend to City Council approval of the combined PUD Step One – Concept Plan and PUD 
Step Two – Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit for the Joslyn Road Fuel Station subject to the conditions 
of the City’s Administrative Review Team.” 
 
 







   

 

 
Planning Commission  

Public Notice 
 

Meeting Date, Time, and Location: 
 

Wednesday, May 8, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. 
City of Auburn Hills - City Council Chambers 
1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 

Project Name: Joslyn Road Fuel Station 
 

General Property Location: Generally located west of Joslyn Road, between Great Lakes Crossing 
Drive and Pacific Boulevard. 
Sidwell Nos. 14-04-451-023, 14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025 and 14-
04-451-026. 
 

Applicant: Bill Saad, Bill Saad Properties, LLC - 734-692-2700 
 

Nature of the Request: Recommendation to City Council for combined PUD Step One – 
Qualification / Step Two – Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit 
approval to construct a passenger vehicle and truck fueling station and 
convenience store. 
 

City Staff Contact: Steven J. Cohen, AICP 
Director of Community Development - 248-364-6900 
 

 

Notice will be sent via U.S. Mail to properties within 1,000 feet of the site. The proposed application can be 
inspected before the meeting at the Community Development Department, located on the municipal campus 
at 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326, during regular City business hours. 
 
People wishing to express their views may do so in person at the meeting or in writing addressed to the 
Planning Commission c/o Steven J. Cohen, Director of Community Development, at the above address. 
 
Anyone planning to attend the meeting who needs special assistance under the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk's Office at 248-370-9402 or the City Manager's Office at 248-
370-9440 48 hours prior to the meeting. Staff will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements. 
 

   

  
 

LOCATION MAP 

 



 
 
 

 

May 1, 2024 
 
 
Mr. Steven Cohen, AICP 
Director of Community Development 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
1827 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326 
 
 
RE: Joslyn Road Fuel Station (3681 Joslyn Road)  
 Site Plan 1st Review  
 
 
Dear Mr. Cohen: 
 
We have completed the site plan review for the above referenced project with respect to grading, paving, storm 
drainage/detention, and availability of municipal utilities to serve the site. The site plan, received by this office on 
April 30, 2024 was prepared by PEA Group.  The review comments are noted below. 
 
PERMITS: 
Various permits will be required for this site, including but not limited to the following: 

➢ Soil erosion permit from O.C.W.R.C. 

➢ N.P.D.E.S. permit from E.G.L.E. 

➢ Water main extension permit from E.G.L.E. 

➢ Right-of-way construction and signing permit from R.C.O.C. 

➢ Permit or waiver from O.C.W.R.C. for discharge into a county controlled drain 
 
GENERAL: 
The site is located west of the Joslyn Road and Pacific Drive intersection at 3681 Joslyn Road in Section 4 of the 
City of Auburn Hills. The applicant is proposing to construct a gas station with eight (8) standard fuel pumps, four 
(4) truck fueling stations and an approximately 4,600 square-foot convenience store. The proposed facility will span 
four parcels, currently zoned P.U.D Overlay (P). The adjacent parcel to the west is zoned Landfill Recreational (LF-
11), the adjacent parcel to the north is zoned One Family Residential (R-1), and the adjacent parcel to the south is 
zoned General Business (B-2). A complete legal description of the parcel is shown on the plans. The City of Auburn 
Hills Standard Notes and Fire Department Notes are included on the plans. A landscape plan was included in the 
plan set and appears to be acceptable. The City of Auburn Hills Standard Details were not included in the plan set 
and will need to be included in the engineering review submittal. Furthermore, a soil erosion and sedimentation 
control plan is needed for engineering review.  
 
MUNICIPAL UTILITIES: 
There is an existing 12-inch water main located along the west side of Joslyn Road, on the east side of the site. The 
applicant is proposing to tap the existing 12-inch and extend 8-inch public main on to the site in two locations. Two 
(2) fire hydrant assemblies are proposed to provide adequate coverage for the site. It appears the building service 
leads are proposed to extend from the north side of the building and connect to the proposed 8-inch on-site public 
water main on the north side of the site. The size and material type of the proposed water main shall be labeled for 
engineering review. A 12-foot-wide easement shall be shown centered on all public water main not located within 
the right-of-way (including hydrant leads).  



City of Auburn Hills 
Joslyn Road Fuel Station (3681 Joslyn Road) 
May 1, 2024 
Page 2 of 3 

 

 
A 10-inch sanitary sewer extends along the west side of Joslyn Road, on the east side of the site. The applicant is 
proposing a 6-inch sanitary lead to serve the building, connecting on the north side. The sanitary lead is proposed 
to tap the existing sanitary structure to the north of the northern drive approach. The material type and slope of the 
proposed sanitary sewer lead shall be labeled for engineering review.  
 
STORM SEWER AND DETENTION: 
The storm sewer system is comprised of a series of catch basins and manholes located around the parking area and 
drive aisles that surround the building. Storm water runoff will be collected through this system and routed to a 
water quality unit before discharging into the detention pond on the south side of the site. The detention pond will 
then ultimately outlet into the Sinking Bridge Drain. Preliminary detention calculations were provided on the plan 
and appear to meet City requirements. Additional details of the stormwater management system will be needed for 
the engineering review including the site C-factor, storm sewer sizing calculations, profiles, hydraulic grade lines, 
orifice/restricted outlet sizing, etc. A water quality unit has been provided on the plans prior to the storm water 
entering the underground detention system. The water quality unit shall conform to City standards and additional 
details and calculations for the water quality unit will be needed for the engineering review.  
 
PAVING: 
The plans indicate concrete curb and gutter throughout the site and pavement cross-sections were included on the 
plans meeting City standards. Pavement sections include standard duty asphalt (4 inches of asphalt on 8 inches of 
aggregate), heavy duty asphalt (4.5 inches of asphalt on 10 inches of aggregate), standard duty concrete (6 inches of 
concrete on 6 inches of aggregate), heavy duty concrete (8 inches of concrete on 6 inches of aggregate), concrete 
sidewalk (4 inches of concrete on 4 inches of sand), and asphalt pathway (3 inches of asphalt on 4 inches of 
aggregate). A pavement cross-section for the Road Commission for Oakland County (RCOC) right-of-way 
approaches shall be included at engineering review.  
 
The applicant is proposing 30 parking spaces including 2 handicap parking spaces and 6 future electric vehicle 
parking spaces. A loading area and dumpster enclosure are proposed in the northwest corner of the site. A 7-foot-
wide concrete sidewalk has been provided around the proposed building and connects to the 8-foot-wide asphalt 
pathway proposed along Joslyn Road on the east side of the site. An easement will be required for the portion of 
pathway that is located outside the Joslyn Road right-of-way. 
 
GRADING: 
Existing and proposed grades are shown with contours and spot elevations. The site generally slopes from Joslyn 
Road on the east side of the site towards the County drain located on the west edge of the site. The proposed 
improvements do not substantially alter the drainage pattern. Any slopes exceeding the City maximum of 1:4 shall 
be revised to remain at or below 1:4 at engineering review. Perimeter site slopes appear to match into existing 
contours prior to all abutting property lines. Pavement slopes are mostly consistent with City standards and are to 
remain between 1% and 6% for drive areas and between 1% and 4% for parking areas. Sidewalk and pathway slopes 
shall comply with ADA standards.  
 
There are two segmented retaining walls proposed as part of this project on the north and west side of the site. 
Design details and computations (sealed by a licensed engineer) will need to be submitted and approved during the 
engineering review for all walls greater than one (1) foot in height. Any retaining walls over 2.5 feet in height are 
required to be fenced. A generic segmented retaining wall detail with a fence has been included on the plan.  
 
TRAFFIC: 
Currently, there are no existing drive approaches located on site. The applicant is proposing two new approaches 
onto Joslyn Road. The south approach will be directly in line with the intersection of Joslyn Road and Pacific Drive. 
There is a traffic signal at the intersection and the applicant will need a permit from the RCOC in order to add their 
proposed driveway as a fourth leg to the intersection. A second approach is proposed approximately 300 feet further 



City of Auburn Hills 
Joslyn Road Fuel Station (3681 Joslyn Road) 
May 1, 2024 
Page 3 of 3 

 

north. This approach is proposed with a 4-inch mountable median (required by the County) to direct drivers exiting 
the site into a right turn only and dissuade them from directly entering a cross over near the approach. Consideration 
should be given to widening the approach so that incoming trucks (fuel trucks, fire trucks, etc.) will not need to 
traverse the median to enter the site.  
 
It is our understanding that a traffic concern was raised during a previous development proposed for this site related 
to southbound traffic on Joslyn Road being able to see vehicles entering/exiting the site. The proposed site is located 
on a curve in Joslyn Road and existing vegetation within the right-of-way and on the site currently reduce sight 
distance approaching the existing signal at Pacific Drive. Based on our field review, the existing sight distance is 
approximately 350 feet. The minimum required sight distance based on the design speed of the roadway is 446 feet. 
As part of the development, the existing vegetation will be removed and sight distance along the curve will be 
improved.  It appears that the sight distance to the signal after the development is complete will be approximately 
640 feet.  
 
The proposed north driveway to the development has been designed with a deceleration lane for southbound traffic 
entering the site at this location. This driveway also only allows right turn on exit of the site to minimize conflicts. 
The south driveway to the development will be located at the existing signal at Pacific Drive. With the vegetation 
clearing, there will be adequate sight distance for all approaches to this intersection.  
 
It should be noted that Joslyn Road is under the jurisdiction of the RCOC. The applicant will need to obtain a permit 
approval from the RCOC and ensure all access points meet the County requirements, including potential upgrades 
to the signal at Joslyn and Pacific. A traffic study was prepared for the previous gas station development proposed 
for this site in 2018, which was reviewed by the City and the RCOC. An updated study has not been completed.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The site plan is in substantial compliance with City of Auburn Hills requirements and has been stamped “Approved” 
by our office.  We ask that the site plan approval acknowledge the following: 
 

1. The site improvement plan, designed in accordance with Ordinance No. 806, shall be submitted to the 
City for review and approval prior to construction. A detailed cost estimate for the improvements shall 
be submitted with the plans signed and sealed by the design engineer. 

2. The developer must post a performance guarantee, in accordance with the City’s requirements as set 
forth in the City of Auburn Hills Ordinance No. 372, Section 2007, Performance Guarantees. The 
estimate of the guarantee shall be submitted with the site improvement plan and must reflect all costs 
for site improvements, including but not limited to mass grading, roadways, lighting, utilities, pathways, 
sidewalks, screening, landscaping, driveways, retaining walls, parking lots, drainage, stormwater 
retention basins, and other similar features.  

 
If you have any questions or are in need of any further information, please feel free to contact our office. 
 
Sincerely, 
OHM Advisors 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Hannah Driesenga, P.E. 
 
Transmitted via e-mail to Steven Cohen: May 1, 2024 

cc: File 
 
P:\0101_0125\SITE_AUBURNHILLSCITY\2024\0120241040_JOSLYN ROAD FUEL STATION\_SITE\JOSLYN ROAD FUEL 
STATION_SITE REV#1_APP.DOCX 



  
 
 

                                                   
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Mr. Steve Cohen   
FROM:  Lieutenant Brandon Hollenbeck 
DATE:  April 26, 2024 
SUBJECT:  Site Plan Review for Joslyn Fuel Station - Mobil (Joslyn/Pacific) 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
I have reviewed the site plans for the proposed Mobil gas station development, located on the northwest 
corner of Joslyn Road and Pacific Drive.  Due to the location of this proposed development and traffic 
concerns that were raised, I have also physically surveyed the area at the site.   
The development has two driveways (north and south) to provide access from Joslyn Road.  The north 
entrance/exit has a deceleration lane on southbound Joslyn Road, which allows ample notice and turn lane 
distance/sight distance for vehicles to safely turn into the business.  Any cars exiting the property utilizing 
the north exit will only be allowed to turn right, thus turning into the flow of traffic onto southbound 
Joslyn Road.  The exit structure does not allow for vehicles to cut across the median to the turnaround on 
Joslyn Road.  The south entrance/exit will be utilized for truck traffic as well as cars.  This entrance/exit 
will be placed at the traffic signal at Pacific Drive and has adequate stopping/sight distance.  Trucks and 
cars will be able to utilize this exit to turn left onto northbound Joslyn Road with the reconfiguration of 
the traffic signal. 
We have no objections to the building project as presented in the plans.   
 

POLICE DEPARTMENT 
1899 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, MI  48326  
 

    
 



1899 N SQUIRREL ROAD – AUBURN HILLS, MICHIGAN 48326 – (248) 370-9461 
 

 

   
 
 

 

Official Memorandum 
 
 
To: Steve Cohen, Director of Community Development 
From: Fred Solomon, Fire Inspector 
Date: April 29, 2024 
Re: Site Plan Review  
 
 
PROJECT:  Joslyn Fuel Station 
 

XXX Approved  
 Approved Subject to the following revisions: 

 Denied  
 
 
No Comments 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Fred Solomon 
Fire Inspector 
Auburn Hills Fire Department 
 
  
 
 
 
 

AUBURN HILLS 
FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 
 

 



Site Specific, Inc. 

Site Specific, Inc. 
JULIE STACHECKI, ISA Certified Arborist MI-0650, TRAQ, MI Oak Wilt Qualified 

Howell, MI 48843 w 810.599.0343 w stachec1@me.com 
 

1 

May 1, 2024 
 
Steve Cohen, Director Community Development 
City of Auburn Hills, Community Development Department 
1827 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 
Subject:  Woodlands Ordinance Review for Joslyn Road Fuel Station, Auburn Hills, MI 
 
Dear Mr. Cohen, 
 The submittals regarding the above-mentioned project were reviewed and site visit made 
to correlate information. See the tree detail chart below indicating the trees on-site being removed 
and required replaments.  

TREE DATA TABLE   

DESCRIPTION TOTAL TREES 
Required/REPLACEMENT 

TREES 

Total Trees Surveyed 36 NA 

Removed Regulated Trees 4 4 

Non-regulated Trees 
Surveyed/Removed  

29 
0 

Removed Landmark Trees  2 = 97” DBH  10 

TOTAL Required Replacement Trees   14 Trees 

 Applicant is removing 4 regulated tree species, and 2 Landmark trees (97”).  Total 
replacement trees required to satisfy the Woodlands Ordinance is 14. The landscape plans 
provide 41 full-canopied deciduous trees, 30 evergreens, and 24 ornamental trees which satisfies 
the Woodland Protection Ordinance and required City Zoning Ordinances.   
 This project is approved based on the tree data above and associated landscape plans.  
 
Best regards, 
 
 
Julie Stachecki  
City of Auburn Hills Woodland Consultant 
ISA Certified Arborist; Tree Risk Assessment Qualified; 
MI Oak Wilt Qualified 
 











` 

 
 
  

 
April 29, 2024 
 
Steve Cohen, AICP 
Community Development Director 
City of Auburn Hills Community Development Department 
1827 Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326 
 
RE:  Citizen Participation Letter Related to the Development Application for Joslyn Road and Pacific 

Drive, Auburn Hills, MI (New Mobil Gas Station and Convenience Store) 
 
Mr. Cohen 
 
In accordance with the City of Auburn Hills’ Citizen Participation Ordinance, we have mailed the Citizen’s 
Participation letter related to the development application for New Mobil Gas Station to the mailing labels 
provided by the Community Development Department.  The letters were postmarked April 12, 2024.  We 
have not received any responses to these letters provided. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
PEA Group 

 
James P. Butler, PE 
Principal/Project Executive 
  

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER:  Chairperson Ouellette called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Present:  Beidoun, Hitchcock, Mendieta, Moniz, Ouellette, Pederson and Pierce  

     Absent:  Ochs, Shearer   
     Also Present:  City Planner Keenan and Recreation Director Marzolf  
     Guests: 15 
 
LOCATION:  City Council Chamber, 1827 N. Squirrel Roads, Auburn Hills, MI  48326 
 
5. PETITIONERS 
 
5b. Speedway Vehicle Fueling Station and Convenience Store (7:16 p.m.) 

Public Hearing / Motion – Recommendation to City Council for combined PUD Step One – 
Qualification / Step Two – Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit approval to construct a passenger 
vehicle and truck fueling station and convenience store. 

 
Mr. Keenan introduced the request from Speedway, LLC for approval to construct a passenger and commercial 
vehicle fueling station and convenience store on a 5.07-acre parcel, zoned B-2, General Business District.   The 
site is generally located on the west side of Joslyn Road between Great Lakes Crossing Drive and Pacific 
Boulevard.  He explained the current condition and challenges associated with developing the former landfill site 
to the west make the subject site well suited for the proposed vehicle and truck fueling station and convenience 
store.   
 
Mr. Keenan explained the proposed Planned Unit Development (PUD) will consist of an automobile fueling area 
with 16 fueling positions and canopy in the front; a commercial vehicle area with three fueling positions and 
canopy in the back, and a 4,608 square foot convenience store.   The development is providing an eight-foot-
wide pathway along Joslyn Road in accordance with the City’s pathway plan.  A donation in the amount of 
$100,000 will be made to the Auburn Hills Community Foundation to be used for public purposes. 
 
Mr. Keenan noted two of the four key issues, the first related to combining the automobile and truck fueling 
stations on the site.  The Zoning Ordinance prohibits combining passenger vehicle fueling and tractor-trailer 
truck fueling operations on the same site.  He explained the site design separates the passenger vehicle fueling 
area from the commercial vehicle fueling area.  The site is also designed to limit truck traffic to the southernmost 
drive.  Mr. Keenan noted that staff finds the proposed joint passenger and commercial fueling operation to be 
acceptable since the two fueling areas are separated by the proposed convenience store, which will help reduce 
conflicts between passenger vehicles and trucks.       
 
Mr. Keenan explained the second issue relates to the outdoor sales area located on the south side of the 
building.   The sales space has a 6’-4” high wall to screen items from the south, east and west and the building 
should screen the items from the north by the convenience store.  The walls of the enclosure are designed to 
match the building facade.   Items stored within the enclosure include ice chests and propane tanks. 
 
Mr. Keenan stated construction for this project is expected to begin in August 2019 with completion taking place 
in April 2020.  The overall investment is estimated at $3,057,000.   
 
Mr. Al Chakonas with Speedway LLC, 730 Joliet Street, Dyer, IN and Mandy Gauss with CESO, Inc., 
13060 Old US 27, Dewitt, MI 48220 introduced themselves.  Ms. Gauss stated although it is a difficult site to 
work with in regards to grading, they are excited about making it work.  They will be installing multiple retaining 
walls to deal with the issues.  There will be eight pumps allowing for sixteen fueling positions for autos with a 
dive-in configuration as opposed to a stacked configuration which allows for better traffic flow.  As for the 
commercial fueling, the trucks will travel in a one-way pattern to the west side of the property with a master 
dispenser and a satellite dispenser which allows for fueling on either side of the vehicle and maintain one-way 
traffic. There are three fueling positions. They can pull up to the stop bar after fueling to run into the 

 

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

MINUTES 
EXCERPT November 14, 2018 

 



Auburn Hills Planning Commission/Recreation Commission – November 14, 2018 
Page 2 of 3 
 
convenience store, but this is not a typical truck stop.  No long-term parking or showers are provided.  The 
facility is intended for local day-to-day drivers, not long haul drivers. The autos and trucks will have clearly 
marked separate entrances, and there will be a new traffic control signal installed.  The Speedy Café will offer a 
variety of quickly made foods.  There will be an 8-foot wide pathway constructed along Joslyn Road.   
 
Mr. Chakonas thanked Mr. Keenan for being very detail oriented and easy to work with.  He wanted to reiterate 
that this location will not be considered a typical truck stop.  Mr. Chakonas stated he conducted a car and truck 
count on I-75 and Joslyn for the location and the counts make this location ideal for what is being proposed.  He 
stated they would not consider this $4 million investment if they didn’t believe they would get a return on their 
investment.  He believes the addition of the traffic control light will alleviate any traffic concerns. 
Environmentally, there have been great improvements over the years with the use of double wall fiberglass 
tanks as opposed to the old steel tanks.  There will be automatic shutoffs that detect any breach in the system.  
Mr. Chakonas noted that methane is coming from the adjacent property to the west.  He hopes the owner will be 
willing to clean up the property with the incentive of Brownfield funds, if possible.   
 
Ms. Gauss stated that the whole site would be marked with directional signage, so there are no traffic issues.  
 
Mr. Hitchcock asked if there would be any signage stating that there is no overnight parking.   
 
Ms. Gauss stated there are no parking fire lanes signs positons throughout the site along the drive lanes and 
that if it ever became a problem, they would look into it.  There is not any room for trucks to park onsite if they 
are not getting fuel or just running into the café for a quick visit.   
 
Mr. Hitchcock then asked what steps are taken to remedy fuel spillage.   
 
Ms. Gauss stated the canopies are designed so water flows away from the fueling areas and that the catch 
basin is positioned a good distance away from every fueling position.  
 
Mr. Beidoun questioned the site next to the location that needs to be cleaned-up.  He thought they were asking 
for the City’s help in cleaning up the property.   
 
Mr. Chakonas clarified that he would ask the City to help the current owner of the former landfill site in obtaining 
whatever funds may be available to them through certain programs.  He is not asking for the City’s help in 
paying for anything.  
 
Mr. Beidoun asked if the current property owner had been contacted yet regarding any clean-up possibilities. 
 
Mr. Chakonas stated there has been no contact and stated his confidence the issue will get resolved.  
 
Mr. Moniz is very concerned with the location of the site, which is at the curve on Joslyn Road.  He mentioned 
people drive fast through that area.  He is also wary that the City will receive complaints from residences about 
trucks parking on the site at night.   
 
Mr. Chakonas stated that all their managers are trained to be aware of anyone taking too long in the lot whether 
it is a truck or a car.  There will be a PA system in use for the staff that will enable them to communicate with 
drivers who may be having any kind of an issue.   
 
Mr. Mendieta asked a sign will be located along I-75.  
 
Mr. Chakonas stated their location would be on the blue service signs before the exit, that identify the 
restaurants and gas stations located off the exit.  He also stated no towering sign would be placed along I-75.    
 
Mr. Mendieta asked if the pathway along Joslyn Road will be connected to anything 
 
Mr. Keenan answered yes and explained it would connect to the existing pathway to the south along Joslyn 
Road.  
 
Mr. Ouellette opened the public hearing at 7:49 p.m. 
 



Auburn Hills Planning Commission/Recreation Commission – November 14, 2018 
Page 3 of 3 
 
Ms. Sheryl Stubblefield, 1461 Vinewood, Auburn Hills, MI  48326 stated her concerns about the dangers of 
driving that stretch of Joslyn Road where the curve and the hill located in front of this location. She thinks the 
added traffic light will create more delays during busy commute times.  She mentioned her home is still 
connected to a well and she is very concerned about a gas station causing environmental problems.   
 
Mr. Ouellette closed the public hearing at 7:53 p.m. 
 
Mr. Hitchcock moved to recommend to City Council approval of the Combined PUD Step One – Concept 
Plan and PUD Step Two – Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit for the Speedway Passenger and 
Commercial Vehicle Fueling Station and Convenience Store subject to the conditions of the 
administrative review team 
Supported by Mr. Pierce.  
VOTE:  Yes: Beidoun, Hitchcock, Ouellette, Pederson, Pierce  
 No:   Moniz, Mendieta         
          Motion Carried (5-2) 
 



EXCERPT 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY MEETING 
 

December 18, 2018 

CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Capen called the meeting to order at 6:10 p.m. 
 

ROLL CALL: Present: Capen, Douglas, Hawley, Slocum 
Absent: Knight 
Also Present: Brandon Skopek, Director of Authorities; Kirstie Hardy, AKT Peerless; 

Mary Hoeh, AKT Peerless 
Guests: 1 

LOCATION: Auburn Hills City Hall, Administrative Conference Room, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

DIRECTOR UPDATES 

Mr. Skopek updated the Board on a proposed Speedway gas station on property adjacent to 3951 Joslyn Road. The 
development has received a recommendation of approval from the Planning Commission to City Council and the 
development team has reached out to staff inquiring about brownfield funding assistance. 

He informed the development team for Speedway that there is funding available, but that the Board has not 
historically participated in redevelopment projects for gas stations and that the Board would need to approve 
funding. He requested that Speedway send him a letter of intent to seek brownfield assistance and that he would 
gauge the interest of the Board. 

Staff does not know the full extent of current issues on the site, but staff has received a Phase II Environment Site 
Assessment conducted by Speedway. 

Ms. Hoeh stated that she reviewed the Phase II Environment Site Assessment that was conducted on the site and 
that there had been traces of methane identified in the soil. 

Mr. Skopek asked if the Board would be interested in exploring funding assistance for the proposed development. 

Chairman Capen stated the developer is welcome to put a brownfield plan together and make a presentation and 
request to the Board. He requested that the developer supply to staff all environmental reports they have on the 
property. 

Mr. Skopek stated he will convey the information to the development team at Speedway. 



 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
Regular City Council Meeting 

Minutes - EXCERPT 
January 14, 2019 

 
CALL TO ORDER: Mayor McDaniel at 7:00 p.m. 
LOCATION:  City Council Chamber, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

Present:  Mayor McDaniel, Council Members Burmeister, Hammond, Knight, Moniz, 
and Verbeke  

     Absent: Council Member Kittle  
Also Present: City Manager Tanghe, City Attorney Beckerleg, Assistant City 
Manager Grice, City Clerk Pierce, Police Chief Baker, Fire Chief Taylor, Director of 
Community Development Cohen, Senior Services Director Adcock, City Assessor 
Griffin, DPW Director Melchert, Deputy DPW Director Stahly, Director of Authorities 
Skopek 
 
11 Guests 

 
4. NEW BUSINESS 
9a. Motion – Approval of Combined PUD Step One – Concept Plan and PUD Step Two – Site Plan and 

Tree Removal Permit / Speedway Passenger and Commercial Vehicle Fueling Station and 
Convenience Store 

Mr. Cohen presented the requested PUD permit from Speedway for a passenger and commercial vehicle 
fueling station, located west of Joslyn road.  The permit would be specifically for semi-truck fueling 
purposes.  The projected construction time frame will extend from August 2019 – April 2020.  A donation 
of $100,000 was made to the Auburn Hills Community Foundation by Speedway for public purposes.  
Attorney Beckerleg clarified that the donation is being given to the Auburn Hills Community Foundation and 
their board will decided where the money is distributed.     
 
Mr. Cohen explained that at the November 14, 2018 Planning Commission meeting, the members shared 
their concerns with this development.  Their concerns were regarding traffic safety and sight distance, the 
finding of methane gas from the property located next to this development at the address of 3951 Joslyn 
road, as well as the concern that this establishment could become a truck stop.  After review by the Police 
Department and OHM these issues were negated and it was stated that no long term parking would be 
allowed at this location.   
 
Mr. Al Chakonas of Speedway LLC, 730 Lincoln Highway, Dyer, In and Mandy Gauss with CESO, Inc, 13060 
Old US 27, DeWitt, Mi were present.   
 
There was discussion regarding the ability for large trucks to make the necessary turns, the survival of this 
business at this location and the known methane gas leak on the adjacent property, 3951 Joslyn road.  It 
was stated that the City does not want any responsibility for the clean-up of the methane gas located at 
the property next to the property in question.  Mr. Skopek, Director of Authorities, stated that the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority conducted phase one of the property and does not want to continue with any 
additional research or testing at 3951 Joslyn beyond the Phase I because it is not a City owned property.  
It was stated that the MDEQ is looking through their files to determine who the liable party would be, there 
was no indication of who the liable party would be from the information gathered from Phase I.  
 



City Council Minutes – January 14, 2019 
Page 2 
 
Ms. Verbeke stated that she was not opposed to this company joining our community, but had concerns 
with the location due to traffic, entering and exiting of the property, the close proximity of other gas 
stations, and the methane gas issue. 
 
Moved by Burmeister, Seconded by Hammond. 

RESOLVED:  To accept the Planning Commission’s recommendation and approve the 
Combined PUD Step One – Concept Plan and PUD Step Two – Site Plan and Tree Removal 
Permit for the Speedway Passenger and Commercial Vehicle Fueling Station and 
Convenience Store subject to the conditions of the administrative review team. 

VOTE: Yes:  Burmeister, Hammond, Knight, McDaniel 
 No: Moniz, Verbeke 
Resolution No. 19.01.06       Motion Carried (4 - 2) 
 

  



 

 

 

 

 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY MEETING 
EXCERPT 

 
May 16, 2023 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Mr. Knight called the meeting to order at 6:19 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL:  Present: Knight, Hopper, Schaar and Slocum (arrived at 6:28 p.m.) 
   Absent: Douglas 
   Also Present: Stephanie Carroll, Economic Development Manager 
   Guests:  Brian Westhoff and Samantha Seimer, AKT Peerless 
      Neil Silver, Dawda, Mann, Mulcahy & Sadler, PLC 
 
LOCATION:  Auburn Hills City Hall, Administrative Conference Room-1827 North Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Item 7a. Brownfield Plan-Bill Saad Properties, LLC; Four Parcels at Joslyn and Pacific Roads 
 
Ms. Carroll provided an introduction and history of the site.  She outlined the proposed development of the vacant parcels and 
the eligible activities cost summary.   
 
Ms. Carroll reminded the group that what is being proposed is a traditional brownfield plan.  The developer will incur the costs 
for the work and be reimbursed when eligible tax revenues are available.  The developer is not asking for any up-front incentives 
for this project.  She noted that the plan does include the last five years of capture for the Local Site Remediation Revolving 
Fund (LSRRF) in an estimated amount of $207,718.  
 
Moved by Mr. Knight to approve the Brownfield Plan for Bill Saad Properties, LLC. That includes four parcels at Joslyn Road 
and Pacific (Parcels 02-14-04-451-023, 02-14-04-451-024, 02-14-04-451-025 and 02-14-04-451-026) as presented and forward 
the plan to City Council for review and approval.  Furthermore, authorize the executive director to execute the 
reimbursement agreement on behalf of the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority.  
Seconded by Mr. Schaar. 
 
Yes: Knight, Slocum, Hopper and Schaar 
No:  None 
            Motion Carried 
  



 

1 | P a g e  

 

 
March 14, 2023 
Ms. Stephanie Carroll 
Economic Development Manager 
 
Subject:   Environmental Summary 

3681 Joslyn Road,  
Auburn Hills, Michigan   

 
The subject property, which is proposed to be developed with a new gasoline filling station and 
convenience store, consists of four contiguous parcels at Joslyn Road (Parcels 02‐14‐04‐451‐023, 
02‐14‐04‐451‐024, 02‐14‐04‐451‐025, and 02‐14‐04‐451‐026), Auburn Hills, Oakland County, 
Michigan, and totals approximately 4.67‐acres of land.  

Previous environmental investigation activities have been conducted at the subject property that 
include the following: 

2003 Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) prepared by 21st Century Resources Group, LLC 
(21st Century) 

In October 2003, 21st Century completed a BEA for the subject property, identified as 3681 Joslyn 
Road, that was submitted to the State in January 2004. At the time of the BEA, the subject 
property was noted to be vacant with the exception of an empty residential garage; however, 
formerly contained a residential dwelling.  

According to the BEA, Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) completed environmental 
work in November 1991 and 21st Century completed a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
(ESA) and Phase II ESA in September 2003, all conducted as a response to a reported heating oil 
above ground storage tank (AST) spill. It was reported that a heating oil AST was found to be 
leaking at the site associated with a former residential dwelling in 1991. According to 21st 
Century, in November 1991, MDOT conducted excavation activities for contaminated soil and 
collected confirmation samples for laboratory analysis. Reportedly, one water sample identified 
benzene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes above criteria established at that time.  

Although specific information pertaining to 21st Century’s Phase I ESA were not provided, in 
September 2003, 21st Century completed two soil borings at the subject property to address the 
former leaking heating oil AST and a noted western adjoining landfill. One soil sample and one 
groundwater sample were submitted for laboratory analysis. Metals were reportedly detected in 
soil below the Statewide Default Background Levels (SDBLs) for soil and below the residential 
drinking water standard for groundwater.  

21st Century’s BEA, utilizing MDOT’s 1991 data, identified benzene, ethylbenzene, xylenes, 
arsenic, barium, cadmium, total chromium, and lead as facility level contamination at the subject 
property, despite metals being noted to be below SDBLs and established drinking water criteria. 
However, AKT Peerless notes that the November 1991 MDOT excavation appears to have been 
associated with an abandoned underground storage tank (UST) discovered beneath a utility 
trench box in the area of the Joslyn Road and I‐75 South Bound Exit Ramp, and area considered a 
northern adjoining property. Further, AKT Peerless notes that 21st Century appended the four 
legal descriptions of the four subject property parcels to their 2003 BEA report as identifiers for 



 

2 | P a g e  

 

their property area, indicating that all four parcels were included in the classification of the 
subject property as a facility at that time. 

2018 Phase II ESA prepared by ATC Group Services LLC (ATC) 

In August 2018, ATC completed a Phase II ESA of the subject property. According to ATC’s Phase II 
ESA Report, a Phase I ESA was completed in June 2018 that identified recognized environmental 
conditions (RECs) associated with (1) a former BEA filed in 2004, (2) buried concrete, odor, and 
discolored soils noted during a geotechnical investigation, and (3) the historical operation of the 
western adjoining property as a landfill. 

ATC completed a geophysical survey that did not identify anomalous areas at the subject 
property. ATC reportedly identified volatile organic compounds (VOCs), semi‐VOCs (SVOCs), 
polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PNAs), metals, and/or methane in soil, groundwater, and/or 
soil gas at concentrations exceeding the Michigan department of Environment, Great Lakes, and 
Energy (EGLE) Part 201 Criteria and/or the Vapor Intrusion Interim Action Screening Levels 
(established at that time). ATC Concluded that the subject property met the definition of a 
facility as defined in Part 201 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act 
(NREPA). 

2022 Phase I ESA prepared by AKT Peerless 

AKT Peerless completed a Phase ESA of the subject property in September 2022. At the time of 
the assessment, the subject property consisted of vacant vegetated (grassy and shrub) land. AKT 
Peerless’ Phase I ESA identified the following RECs in connection with the subject property: 

 In April 1991, an AST containing heating oil was found to be leaking adjacent to a former 
on‐site residential structure located on the southeastern portion of the subject property. 
Heating oil was reported to have leaked within the crawl space of the former residential 
structure and on to off‐site properties. The AST was removed from the property in 1991; 
however, confirmation sampling was not conducted subsequent to its removal. 

 In 2003, a subsurface investigation was conducted on the subject property that 
identified concentrations of arsenic, barium, and chromium within on‐site groundwater 
exceeding the EGLE Part 201 Residential Cleanup Criteria (RCC). A BEA was subsequently 
prepared and submitted to EGLE. 

 In 2018, a subsurface investigation conducted on the subject property identified soil, 
groundwater, and soil gas contamination at the subject property. Concentrations of 
select PNAs and metals were detected within on‐site soil and/or groundwater exceeding 
the EGLE Part 201 RCC. Further, concentrations of methane were detected within soil gas 
samples exceeding the EGLE Acton Level. 

 In November 1991, during road construction activities, a UST was found beneath a utility 
trench box adjacent to Joslyn Road on the northern adjoining property. Upon its 
removal, groundwater verification samples collected identified concentrations of 
petroleum compounds exceeding the EGLE Part 201 RCC. 

 The western adjoining property (3951 Joslyn Road) historically operated as a landfill 
from at least 1966 to 1979. The landfill was reported to have been unlined and utilized 
for the acceptance of industrial waste and general refuse from Pontiac Motors, Fisher 



 

3 | P a g e  

 

Body, and the City of Detroit. By 1987, the site was reported to be contaminated and 
presented the potential for offsite contamination. 

2023 Supplemental Phase II ESA prepared by AKT Peerless 

To further evaluate the RECs identified in AKT Peerless’ September 2022 Phase I ESA and to 
assist with evaluation of due care obligations associated with potential future redevelopment 
activities, AKT Peerless completed a supplemental subsurface investigation of the subject 
property in February 2023. 

The results of the investigation identified metals, VOCs, and PNAs in soil at concentrations 
exceeding EGLE Part 201 Criteria. Additionally, VOCs and PNAs were detected in soil at 
concentrations exceeding the EGLE September 2020 Non‐Residential Volatilization to Indoor Air 
Pathway (VIAP) Screening Levels, and methane screening identified concentrations of methane 
gas above the EGLE Action Level, representing a potential vapor intrusion concern (VIC). 

Based on laboratory analytical results, all four parcels of the subject property meet the definition 
of a facility, as defined in Part 201 of NREPA. AKT Peerless recommended future 
owner(s)/operator(s) prepare a BEA report for liability protection and comply with due care 
obligations. 
 
Proposed Redevelopment 
 
The proposed redevelopment of the site will be similar to the Speedway reviewed by Auburn 
Hills Planning Commission in November 2018. At that time, the Planning Commission 
recommended Auburn Hills City Council approved the PUD Step One – Concept Plan and PUD 
Step Two – Side Plan and Tree Removal Permit…subject to the conditions of the administrative 
review team.  
 
The environmental conditions as described above cause a barrier to the redevelopment of this 
site. Due to the known contamination, the redevelopment of this property has extenuating costs 
that exceed the cost to redevelop a greenfield site. The Developer is seeking support of the 
Auburn Hills Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (AHBRA) for a Brownfield Plan to assist in the 
repayment of brownfield eligible activities. This Brownfield Plan and associated costs will be 
presented to the AHBRA at their April meeting for review and consideration of the Plan.  

Should you have any questions concerning this project, please feel free to contact me at (248) 
506‐6216. 
 
Sincerely, 

 

 
AKT Peerless  
Kyle Sayyae 
Project Manager 



Page 1 of 11 

 

 

 

JOSLYN ROAD FUEL STATION (MOBIL) 

PUD DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 This Development Agreement (the “Agreement”) dated ______________, 2024 by and 

between the City of Auburn Hills, a Michigan Municipal Corporation (“City”), and Bill Saad 

Properties, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company (“Developer”), is entered into to confirm 

certain rights and obligations relating to the development and use of an approximately 5.07 acre 

parcel of property located in the City of Auburn Hills, Michigan, and more particularly described 

on the attached Exhibit A hereto (the “Property” and/or the “Subject Property”).  

 

BACKGROUND 

 A. The Developer is the owner of the approximately 5.07 acre parcel of property 

located on the west side of Joslyn Road between Pacific Boulevard and Great Lakes Crossing 

Drive in Auburn Hills, Michigan, as legally described and depicted on Exhibit A which is attached 

hereto and incorporated herein by reference.   

 B. Pursuant to Section 1830 of the Auburn Hills Zoning Ordinance, the Developer has 

applied for approval of the Site Plan on file with the Auburn Hills Community Development 

Department (the ”Site Plan”), which is part of the PUD process for the development to be known 

as the Joslyn Fuel Station, which development will include, among other things, a passenger and 

commercial vehicle fueling station, a convenience store, sixteen fuel dispensers and canopy for 

DRAFT 
5-02-24 



Page 2 of 11 

passenger vehicle fueling, and three lane commercial vehicle fueling area with three commercial 

vehicle fuel dispensers and canopy (“Joslyn Fuel Station”) and on ________________, 2024 the 

Auburn Hills City Council approved combined PUD Step 1 – Qualification and PUD Step 2 – Site 

Plan Approval (“Site Plan and PUD approval”), along with the associated tree removal permit, for 

the Joslyn Fuel Station subject to several conditions including, but not limited to, the condition 

that the Developer and the City enter into a Development Agreement.  The City-approved Site 

Plan is on file with the Auburn Hills Community Development Department and is incorporated by 

reference in this Agreement.   

 C. It is the purpose of this Agreement to confirm the rights and obligations of the 

Developer and the City with respect to the development and use of the Subject Property.    

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration given, the receipt of which is 

hereby acknowledged by the parties, it is agreed as follows:  

 1. The City approved Site Plan and PUD approval, tree removal permit and the terms 

of this Agreement shall govern the development and use of the Subject Property.  Among other 

things, the City approved Site Plan and PUD approval, tree removal permit and this Agreement 

shall establish landscaping, tree removal and replacement, drainage, setbacks, building elevation 

and design, building footprint, building height, building size and density, water course buffer, open 

space, greenbelt, parking lot, landscape, utilities, pathways, parking and parking spaces number, 

size and location, traffic lanes, driveways and drive isle requirements and location and curb cuts, 

and location, number and size of fuel dispensers and canopies for both passenger vehicle fueling 

and commercial vehicle fueling.  The City approved Site Plan and PUD approval and this 

Agreement shall also establish the architectural style of the building that may be built at the Joslyn 



Page 3 of 11 

Fuel Station.  The Property shall be developed only in accordance with the City approved Site Plan 

and PUD approval, including all materials and plans submitted and approved with the City 

approved Site Plan, City approved grading, utility and engineering plans, City approved tree 

removal permit, this Agreement, City Ordinances in effect on the date of this Agreement which 

are not in conflict with the City approved Site Plan, PUD approval and this Agreement, including, 

but not limited to, the Auburn Hills Zoning Ordinance, and other applicable laws, regulations, 

requirements, and Ordinances (collectively referred to as the “Approval Requirements”).  The City 

approved Site Plan and PUD approval, the City approved tree removal permit, the City approved 

grading, utility, landscaping and engineering plans, this Agreement and the Approval 

Requirements shall be deemed to satisfy all land use and other requirements of the City, including, 

without limitation, the City’s requirements and impositions, if any, under Ordinances relating to 

size, setbacks, density and height of the building, wetlands, woodlands, tree preservation, storm 

water management, parking, walkway, drive, drive isle and roadway configuration and geometry, 

handicapped access, fire protection and fire department design criteria, building elevations and the 

like.  In the event of any conflict between the City approved Site Plan and PUD approval and this 

Agreement on the one hand, and City Ordinances on the other, the City approved Site Plan and 

PUD approval and this Agreement shall control.  To the extent that there are any construction or 

development issues that are not addressed by the City approved Site Plan and PUD approval and 

this Agreement, the City Administration shall determine such matters (and issue administrative 

waivers, if necessary) in order to reasonably achieve the goals and objectives articulated in the 

City approved Site Plan, PUD approval and this Agreement.  

 2. Roads/driveways and curb cuts, public sanitary sewer service, public water service, 

storm water drainage, detention and retention facilities, gas and electric utilities, parking facilities 



Page 4 of 11 

and parking spaces, open space area, sidewalks, pathways, retaining walls, greenbelts, landscaping 

and trees shall be completely constructed, installed and provided by and at the sole expense of 

Developer to service the Joslyn Fuel Station in accordance with the Approval Requirements.  The 

Developer shall be responsible and obligated for the perpetual maintenance, repair and 

replacement of the roads/driveways, drive isles, parking areas and spaces, sidewalks, pathways, 

retaining walls, fuel dispensers and fuel dispenser canopies, drainage facilities, greenbelts, 

landscaping, irrigation, trees and open space areas and all other improvements shown on the City 

approved Site Plan. 

 3. The Developer in accordance with the Approval Requirements shall at its own cost, 

develop, install and construct on the Property a Joslyn Fuel Station consisting of one building 

containing a 4,608 square foot convenience store, as well as sixteen fuel dispensers and a canopy 

for passenger vehicle fueling and a three lane commercial vehicle fueling area with three 

commercial vehicle fuel positions and a canopy, as well as the drive isle, driveway, curb cuts and 

parking and other improvements on the Subject Property as shown on the City approved Site Plan.  

The building to be constructed on the Property shall be one story tall and shall have a height not 

exceeding that shown on the City approved Site Plan.  The Developer shall, at its own cost, install, 

maintain and locate parking on the Property in accordance with the City approved Site Plan.  There 

shall be no overnight parking of commercial vehicles and/or passenger vehicles and/or other 

vehicles on the Subject Property and the sale or rental of vehicles and/or trailers and the advertising 

thereof shall be prohibited.  There shall be no outside storage on the Subject Property including, 

but not limited to, no outside pallet storage and no outside vehicle and/or trailer storage on the 

Subject Property.  The Developer shall utilize an underground grease containment/trap and internal 

oil/grease management system (closed-loop) for the kitchen.  Above-ground grease containment 



Page 5 of 11 

systems shall be prohibited on the site.  The Developer shall be allowed to construct, install, 

maintain and locate on the Subject Property a small propane/ice storage structure to be surrounded 

by a screening enclosure, in accordance with and subject to the City approved Site Plan.  Pole and 

wall mounted lighting shall be shielded and directed downward and lamp bulbs and lens shall not 

extend below the light Fixture Shields and said pole and wall mounted lighting shall be constructed 

and installed by Developer, at its own cost, with the location, dimensions, height and specifications 

of said lighting to be in accordance with City approved Site Plan and Approval Requirements.  All 

ground mounted and roof mounted mechanical equipment will be constructed, installed and 

screened from view by Developer, at its own cost, in accordance with the Approval Requirements.  

The Developer shall locate, construct and install at Developer’s own cost an eight foot wide paved 

recreational pathway for use by the City and the general public, with said pathway to be located 

along Joslyn Road and to be in accordance with and as shown on the City approved Site Plan.  The 

pathway once constructed shall be maintained by Developer, at its own cost. The Developer will 

complete the construction and development of the Joslyn Fuel Station no later than November 1, 

2025.   

 4. The architecture, design and façade of the Joslyn Fuel Station shall be as set forth 

in the City approved Site Plan, PUD approval and this Agreement.   

 5. Developer shall be obligated to design, completely construct, finance and provide 

financial assurances in accordance with the Approval Requirements for the completion of all the 

improvements and landscaping shown on the City approved Site Plan and PUD approval of the 

Joslyn Fuel Station.  Financial assurances required by the City shall be in the form and in the 

amounts required in the City’s Ordinances; provided, however, that the City agrees that the 

Developer may satisfy all financial assurances required for the Joslyn Fuel Station by escrowing 



Page 6 of 11 

funds with a title company satisfactory to the City, pursuant to an escrow arrangement that is 

satisfactory to the City.  In all instances in which the City utilizes the proceeds and the financial 

assurances given to ensure completion of the improvements pursuant to City Ordinances and the 

City approved Site Plan and PUD approval, the City and its contractors and agents shall be 

permitted, and are hereby granted authority, to enter upon the Property for the purpose of 

completing said respective improvements.   

 6. The foundation permits will be available upon the City approval of the grading to 

serve the Joslyn Fuel Station building.  Building permits for the Joslyn Fuel Station building and 

other improvements shall be issued when water mains, sewer lines and other utilities are installed 

to service the Joslyn Fuel Station building and have been accepted by the City and/or the 

appropriate utility companies and paved road/driveway access is available.  The Developer shall, 

at its own cost, install, construct and locate the curb cuts and paved road/driveway access, which 

curb cuts and paved road/driveway access shall be constructed, installed and located in accordance 

with the Approval Requirements.   

7. The City approved Site Plan and PUD approval include a final landscaping plan 

and landscaping details and the Developer shall, at its own cost, install, plant and locate all of said 

landscaping, including trees, shrubs and bushes, in accordance with the final landscaping plan and 

shall, at Developer’s own cost, maintain said landscaping including trees, shrubs and bushes and 

shall replace any landscaping, including trees, shrubs and bushes that die.   

8. The City and Developer agree that all matters related to the use of signage on the 

Joslyn Fuel Station property shall be governed by the City Zoning Ordinance and that under no 

circumstances shall there be any high rise signs or signs that have a height taller than twenty feet 

located on the Property.  



Page 7 of 11 

 9. Based on the development and the use of the Subject Property by the Developer, 

and the Developer’s construction of the Joslyn Fuel Station on the Subject Property, pursuant to 

the Auburn Hills Woodlands Preservation Ordinance, the Subject Property requires 14 

replacement trees and the Developer agrees to and shall, at its own cost, plant 95 replacement trees 

on the subject Property at the locations shown on the City approved Site Plan and City approved 

landscaping plan, with said replacement trees to be of the height, diameter, breast height, kind and 

species shown on the City approved Site Plan and  City approved landscaping plan, with the 

Developer planting all of the 95 replacement trees on the Subject Property prior to a Certificate of 

Occupancy being issued for the Joslyn Fuel Station on the Subject Property.  The Developer, at its 

own cost, shall be responsible for the perpetual maintenance and if necessary, replacement, of the 

95 replacement trees planted on the Subject Property.  The Developer shall, at its own cost, pay all 

applicable fees necessary and required with respect to obtaining the tree removal permit from the 

City.   

 10. The Developer shall within seven days from the date that all parties have executed 

and signed this Agreement, pay to the Auburn Hills Community Foundation a one-time lump sum 

payment of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) to be used for public purposes at the 

sole discretion and decision of the Auburn Hills Community Foundation Board of Directors.   

 11. The Developer’s rights to complete the Joslyn Fuel Station as described herein are 

fully vested on the execution of this Agreement by all parties.  This Development Agreement shall 

run with the land constituting the Subject Property, and shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the Developer and the City, and their respective heirs, successors, assigns and 

transferees, and immediately upon execution of this Development Agreement by all of the parties, 

a Memorandum of this Development Agreement, or the Development Agreement itself, shall be 



Page 8 of 11 

recorded with the Oakland County Register of Deeds.  This Development Agreement shall be 

interpreted and construed in accordance with Michigan law, and shall be subject to enforcement 

only in Michigan Courts.  The parties understand and agree that this Development Agreement is 

consistent with the intent and provisions of the Michigan and U.S. Constitutions and all applicable 

law. 

 12. The Developer has negotiated the terms of this Development Agreement with the 

City, and such documentation represents the product of the joint efforts and agreement of the 

Developer and the City.  The Developer fully accepts and agrees to the final terms, conditions, 

requirements and obligations of this Development Agreement.  The Developer understands that 

this Agreement is authorized by applicable local, state and federal laws, ordinances and 

constitutions and the Developer shall be estopped from taking a contrary position in the future, 

and the City shall be entitled to injunctive relief to prohibit any actions by the Developer that are 

inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  

13. The Developer may request modifications to the City approved Site Plan as follows: 

(a) The Community Development Department may approve modifications to the 

City approved Site Plan that do not:  

(i) materially change the parking layout or; 

(ii) materially increase the total square footage or density of the proposed 

buildings. 

(b) Modifications proposed by the Developer pursuant to this Agreement shall be 

consistent with the City approved Site Plan and Approval Requirements and 

shall not adversely affect the character or quality of the development and;  



Page 9 of 11 

(c) Modifications to the City approved Site Plan that the Community Development 

Department in its sole discretion deems material shall be reviewed for approval 

by the City Council. 

14. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties and may not 

be modified, amended or terminated except in writing executed by all of the parties hereto.   

 

 THIS AGREEMENT is executed by the respective parties on the date specified with the 

notarization with their names.   

 
 BILL SAAD PROPERTIES, LLC, 
 a Michigan limited liability company 
 
 By: _____________________________ 
 
  Its: ________________ 
 
 
 CITY OF AUBURN HILLS, 
 a Michigan Municipal corporation 
 
 By: _____________________________ 
  Brian Marzolf 
  Its:  Mayor 
 
 and 
 
 By: _____________________________ 
  Laura Pierce 
  Its:  Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 10 of 11 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ____________, 
2018, by __________________, the __________________ of Bill Saad Properties, LLC, a 
Michigan limited liability company, on behalf of said company. 
 

____________________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC 
___________________ County, Michigan 
Acting in ______________ County, Michigan 
My commission expires:  ________________ 

 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ____________, 
2018, by Brian Marzolf as Mayor, and Laura Pierce, as Clerk, on behalf of the City of Auburn 
Hills, a Michigan Municipal Corporation, on behalf of the corporation.   
 

____________________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC 
___________________ County, Michigan 
Acting in ______________ County, Michigan 
My commission expires:  ________________ 

 
 
DRAFTED BY AND WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
Derk W. Beckerleg, Esq. 
Secrest Wardle 
2600 Troy Center Drive 
P.O. Box 5025 
Troy, MI  48007-5025  
(248) 851-9500 
dbeckerleg@secrestwardle.com 
 
  

mailto:dbeckerleg@secrestwardle.com


Page 11 of 11 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

 



PROPOSED BUIDLING

JOSLYN ROAD

OUTDOOR SALES 
SCREENED AREA

PROPOSED 
FUEL PUMPS

PROPOSED SIGN

PROPOSED SIGN

RETAINING WALL

RETAINING WALL

DETENTION
POND

Joslyn Road Fuel Station  |  Auburn Hill, MI  |  April, 2024SITE PLAN Scale: 1” = 30’

0 15 30 60







STEP ONE & TWO PUD/SITE PLANS

AUBURN HILLS, MI

3681 JOSLYN ROAD

NO SCALE

LOCATION MAP

DESIGN TEAM

JO
SL

YN
 R

O
A

D
 F

U
EL

 S
TA

TI
O

N
 | 

PE
A

 J
O

B
 N

O
. 2

02
2-

15
61

 | 
ST

EP
 O

N
E 

&
 T

W
O

 P
U

D
/S

IT
E 

PL
A

N
S

NORTH

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

PEA GROUP

7927 NEMCO WAY, STE. 115

BRIGHTON, MI 48116

CONTACT:   JANET EVANS, PLA

PHONE: 844.813.2949

EMAIL: JEVANS@PEAGROUP.COM

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTION DATE

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE 2/12/2024

REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT 4/30/2024

INDEX OF DRAWINGS
NUMBER TITLE

CIVIL PLANS

COVER SHEET

C-1.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS

C-3.0 DIMENSIONAL SITE PLAN

C-4.0 PRELIMINARY GRADING PLAN

C-6.0 ENGINEERING SITE PLAN

C-6.1 DETENTION BASIN CALCULATIONS

C-9.0 NOTES AND DETAILS

C-9.1 DETAILS

C-9.2 DETAILS

C-10.0 FIRE TURNING MOVEMENT

LANDSCAPE PLANS

L-1.0 LANDSCAPE PLAN

L-1.1 LANDSCAPE DETAILS

T-1.0 TREE SURVEY PLAN

ARCHITECTURAL PLANS

A-1 FLOOR PLAN

A-2 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A-3 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

CN-1 CANOPY ELEVATIONS

CN-2 CANOPY ELEVATIONS

PERMIT / APPROVAL SUMMARY

DATE SUBMITTED DATE APPROVED PERMIT / APPROVAL

2/12/2024 SITE PLAN APPROVAL

CIVIL ENGINEER

PEA GROUP

1849 POND RUN

AUBURN HILLS, MI 48326

CONTACT:  JAMES P. BUTLER, PE

EMAIL: JBUTLER@PEAGROUP.COM

PHONE: 844.813.2949

JOSLYN ROAD FUEL STATION

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

THE PROPOSED PROJECT CONSIST OF CONSTRUCTING A MOBIL GAS STATION WITH A 4608 SF

CONVENIENCE STORE, EIGHT AUTO FUELING DISPENSERS, AND THREE COMMERCIAL FUELING

LANES (CFL). THE CFL LANES ARE INTENDED TO SERVICE LOCAL TRUCKS. THERE ARE NOT

TRUCK FACILITIES (SHOWERS) WITHIN THE BUILDING AND THERE ARE NO TRUCK PARKING

SPACES. THERE IS A LOCATION FOR A TRUCK TO PULL FORWARD AFTER FUELING IN ORDER TO

RUN INTO MOBIL TO GET A COFFEE AND USE THE RESTROOM. IT IS NOT INTENDED FOR ANY

LONG TERM PARKING OF COMMERCIAL VEHICLES.

ARCHITECT

G SQUARED DESIGN BUILD, INC

5119 HIGHLAND ROAD - SUITE 197

WATERFORD, MICHIGAN 48327

CONTACT:  JOSEPH DEMSKI

PHONE: (248)-703-5079

EMAIL: JDEMSKI@G2SQUARED.COM

OWNER/APPLICANT/DEVELOPER

BILL SAAD PROPOERTIES, LLC

1 WEST JEFFERSON

TRENTON, MICHIGAN 48183

CONTACT:  BILL SAAD

PHONE: (734)-692-0777

EMAIL: BILLSAAD@MICHIGANFUELS.COM

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
#3681 JOSLYN ROAD, AUBURN HILLS, MI, 48326 (VACANT)

PARCEL 1: PART OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, CITY OF

AUBURN HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS

FOLLOWS: 1  CORNER OF SECTION 4; THENCE N04°46'29"W 986.74 FEET, COMMENCING AT THE

SOUTH 4 1  LINE OF SAID SECTION 4; THENCE N84°58'43"E 51.38 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE

NORTH-SOUTH 4 , N06°24'17"W 509.16 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING

N06°24'17"W 130.00 FEET (CALCULATED), (129.67 FEET, RECORD); THENCE N62°48'48"E 273.16

FEET; THENCE S41°56'57"E 190.00 FEET; THENCE S20°18'47"E 14.75 FEET; THENCE S74°40'13"W

373.91 FEET (CALCULATED), (373.92 FEET RECORD), TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING:

51,621 SQUARE FEET---1.185 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.  PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:#

02-14-04-451-023.  SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF A PUBLIC AND ANY EASEMENTS AND/OR

RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD OR OTHERWISE.

PARCEL 2: PART OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, CITY OF

AUBURN HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS

FOLLOWS: 1  CORNER OF SECTION 4; THENCE N04°46'29"W 986.74 FEET, COMMENCING AT THE

SOUTH 4 1  LINE OF SAID SECTION 4; THENCE N84°58'43"E 51.38 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE

NORTH-SOUTH 4 , N06°24'17"W 199.43 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING

N06°24'17"W 309.73 FEET, CALCULATED, (309.72 FEET, RECORD); THENCE N74°40'13"E 373.92

FEET; THENCE S20°18'47"E 279.52 FEET; THENCE S09°32'27"E 107.26 FEET; THENCE S84°58'43"W

442.58 FEET (CALCULATED), (442.50 FEET RECORD), TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING:

143,334 SQUARE FEET---3.290 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.  PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:#

02-14-04-451-024.  SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF A PUBLIC AND ANY EASEMENTS AND/OR

RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD OR OTHERWISE.

PARCEL 3: PART OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, CITY OF

AUBURN HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS

FOLLOWS: 1  CORNER OF SECTION 4; THENCE N04°46'29"W 986.74 FEET, COMMENCING AT THE

SOUTH 4 1  LINE OF SAID SECTION 4; THENCE N84°58'43"E 51.38 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE

NORTH-SOUTH 4 , N06°24'17"W 99.72 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE N84°58'43"E

447.97 FEET, CALCULATED, (448.06 FEET, RECORD); THENCE N09°32'27"W 100.00 FEET; THENCE

S84°58'43"W 442.50 FEET; THENCE S06°24'17"E 99.72 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINING: 44,385 SQUARE FEET---1.019 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.  PARCEL IDENTIFICATION

NUMBER:# 02-14-04-451-025.  SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF A PUBLIC AND ANY EASEMENTS

AND/OR RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD OR OTHERWISE.

PARCEL 4: PART OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, CITY OF

AUBURN HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS

FOLLOWS: 1  CORNER OF SECTION 4; THENCE N04°46'29"W 986.74 FEET, COMMENCING AT THE

SOUTH 4 1  LINE OF SAID SECTION 4; THENCE N84°58'43"E 51.38 FEET, TO THE ALONG THE

NORTH-SOUTH 4 POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING N84°58'43"E 453.53 FEET; THENCE

N09°32'27"W 100.00 FEET; THENCE S84°58'43"W 448.06 FEET; THENCE S06°24'17"E 99.72 FEET, TO

THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING: 44,939 SQUARE FEET---1.032 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:# 02-14-04-451-026.  SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF A PUBLIC

AND ANY EASEMENTS AND/OR RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD OR OTHERWISE.

(MOBIL)



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24

0 15 30 60

SCALE: 1" = 30'

REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

NORTH

C-1.0

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

LEGEND:
Site Bench Mark No. 1:

NW RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASOIN WITHIN THE WEST SIDE

OF JOSLYN ROAD AND IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 4.

EL=951.87' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 2:

TOP OF NUT OF FIRE HYDRANT IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 2.

EL=951.66' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 3:

NE RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASIN, BEING 27.7' NW'LY FROM

BM#2 (FIRE HYDRANT) AND IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 2.

EL=951.24' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 4:

NE RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASIN, BEING NEAR THE NE

CORNER OF PARCEL 4.

EL=957.14' (NAVD88).

FLOOD NOTE:
SUBJECT PROPERTY AS DEPICTED HEREIN, DOES

NOT LIE IN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA),

ACCORDING TO FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP

(FIRM) NO. 260263, PANEL NO. 0359, SUFFIX "F",

BEING EFFECTIVE AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2006.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
#3681 JOSLYN ROAD, AUBURN HILLS, MI, 48326 (VACANT)

PARCEL 1: PART OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, CITY OF AUBURN HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 1  CORNER OF SECTION 4; THENCE N04°46'29"W 986.74 FEET, COMMENCING AT THE SOUTH 4 1  LINE OF SAID SECTION 4; THENCE N84°58'43"E

51.38 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH 4 , N06°24'17"W 509.16 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING N06°24'17"W 130.00 FEET (CALCULATED),

(129.67 FEET, RECORD); THENCE N62°48'48"E 273.16 FEET; THENCE S41°56'57"E 190.00 FEET; THENCE S20°18'47"E 14.75 FEET; THENCE S74°40'13"W 373.91 FEET

(CALCULATED), (373.92 FEET RECORD), TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING: 51,621 SQUARE FEET---1.185 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.  PARCEL IDENTIFICATION

NUMBER:# 02-14-04-451-023.  SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF A PUBLIC AND ANY EASEMENTS AND/OR RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD OR OTHERWISE.

PARCEL 2: PART OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, CITY OF AUBURN HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 1  CORNER OF SECTION 4; THENCE N04°46'29"W 986.74 FEET, COMMENCING AT THE SOUTH 4 1  LINE OF SAID SECTION 4; THENCE N84°58'43"E

51.38 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH 4 , N06°24'17"W 199.43 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING N06°24'17"W 309.73 FEET, CALCULATED,

(309.72 FEET, RECORD); THENCE N74°40'13"E 373.92 FEET; THENCE S20°18'47"E 279.52 FEET; THENCE S09°32'27"E 107.26 FEET; THENCE S84°58'43"W 442.58 FEET

(CALCULATED), (442.50 FEET RECORD), TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING: 143,334 SQUARE FEET---3.290 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.  PARCEL IDENTIFICATION

NUMBER:# 02-14-04-451-024.  SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF A PUBLIC AND ANY EASEMENTS AND/OR RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD OR OTHERWISE.

PARCEL 3: PART OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, CITY OF AUBURN HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 1  CORNER OF SECTION 4; THENCE N04°46'29"W 986.74 FEET, COMMENCING AT THE SOUTH 4 1  LINE OF SAID SECTION 4; THENCE N84°58'43"E

51.38 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH 4 , N06°24'17"W 99.72 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE N84°58'43"E 447.97 FEET, CALCULATED, (448.06 FEET,

RECORD); THENCE N09°32'27"W 100.00 FEET; THENCE S84°58'43"W 442.50 FEET; THENCE S06°24'17"E 99.72 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING: 44,385 SQUARE

FEET---1.019 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.  PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:# 02-14-04-451-025.  SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF A PUBLIC AND ANY EASEMENTS AND/OR

RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD OR OTHERWISE.

PARCEL 4: PART OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, CITY OF AUBURN HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 1  CORNER OF SECTION 4; THENCE N04°46'29"W 986.74 FEET, COMMENCING AT THE SOUTH 4 1  LINE OF SAID SECTION 4; THENCE N84°58'43"E

51.38 FEET, TO THE ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH 4 POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING N84°58'43"E 453.53 FEET; THENCE N09°32'27"W 100.00 FEET; THENCE

S84°58'43"W 448.06 FEET; THENCE S06°24'17"E 99.72 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING: 44,939 SQUARE FEET---1.032 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.  PARCEL

IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:# 02-14-04-451-026.  SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF A PUBLIC AND ANY EASEMENTS AND/OR RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD OR OTHERWISE.

NOTES
-UTILITY INFORMATION AS SHOWN HEREIN ARE COMPILATION OF FIELD OBSERVATION AND

CITY'S RECORDS, THEREFORE NO GUARANTEE COULD BE GIVEN AS TO THEIR EXACT LOCATION

AND DEPTH.  AN EXCAVATION MIGHT BE NEEDED IN ORDER TO DETERMINE UTILITY POSITION.

-ALL MEASUREMENTS AS SHOWN HEREIN ARE EXISTING.

-ALL SYMBOLS AS SHOWN HEREIN ARE NOT TO SCALE.

-CLIENT/CONTRACTOR SHELL OBTAIN ALL PERTINENT PERMITS WHEN CONNECTING TO PUBLIC

UTILITIES AND COMPLY TO CITY'S REQUIREMENTS.

-ALL MEASURED ELEVATIONS ARE EXPRESSED IN NORTH AMERICAN VERTICAL DATUM AS OF

1988.  (NAVD88)

- WETLANDS AS SHOWN HEREON ARE DELINEATED TO THE BEST OF OUR KNOWLEDGE.

CLINT/CONTRACTOR MUST HIRE A WETLAND SPECIALISTS IN ORDER TO DETERMINE THEIR

EXACT LOCATION.

-LEGAL DESCRIPTION AS CONTAINED WITHIN TITLE COMMITMENTNO.: VT-2022-11583, ISSUED ON

JUNE 24, 2022, DOES NOT DESCRIBE THE EXCEPTED ROAD AREAS FROM ALL 4 PARCELS,

THEREFORE, SAME R-O-W WIDTH CANNOT BE DEPICTED AS THIS MOMENT.  AN ALTA SURVEY BY

COMMUNITY ENGINEERING, NO. E-07-097, DATED ON 09-09-2016, DOES CALL FOR "ADDITIONAL

DOCUMENTS", PROVIDED TO THEM IN REGARDS OF THE MDOT RIGHT-OF-WAY THAT MAY

CONTAIN INFORMATION OF SAID RIGHT-OF WAY LOCATIONS AND SAID DOCUMENTS ARE

RECORDED IN: L.8140, P.735; L.8140, P.741 AND L.8140, P.753.

-TITLE COMMITMENT AS CITED HEREON DOES NOT DISCLOSE ANY:

-SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

-WATER MAIN EASEMENT NOR

-OVERHEAD WIRE AND CABLE TV EASEMENT, AS ALL BEING SHOWN HEREON.

-AB-SB LAND SURVEY, P.C RETAINS THE SOLE OWNERSHIP OF THIS DOCUMENT AS AN

INSTRUMENT OF SERVICE AND IT CAN NOT BE REUSED NOR REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN

PERMISSION AND ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION.

COPYRIGHT  ©   2023 AB-SB LAND SURVEY, P.C.



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24

0 15 30 60

SCALE: 1" = 30'

REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

NORTH

C-3.0

DIMENSIONAL
SITE PLAN

SIGN LEGEND:

'STOP' SIGN

'NO PARKING FIRE LANE' SIGN

'BARRIER FREE PARKING' SIGN

'VAN ACCESSIBLE' SIGN

'ONE WAY' SIGN

'NO OVERNIGHT PARKING' SIGN

REFER TO SHEET C-9.0 FOR DETAILS

SIDEWALK RAMP LEGEND:

SIDEWALK RAMP 'TYPE R'

SIDEWALK RAMP 'TYPE P'

CURB DROP ONLY

REFER TO LATEST MDOT R-28

STANDARD RAMP AND DETECTABLE

WARNING DETAILS

SITE DATA TABLE:

SITE AREA: 5.07 ACRES ( 221,067 SF) NET AND 5.07 ACRES (22,1067) GROSS

ZONING: P- P.U.D OVERLAY

PROPOSED USE: RETAIL

BUILDING INFORMATION:

PROPOSED BUILDING HEIGHT = 1 STORY

BUILDING FOOTPRINT AREA = 4,608 SF.

BUILDING LOT COVERAGE = 2.08%

BUILDING SETBACK REQUIREMENTS: REQUIRED: PROPOSED:

FRONT (SOUTH) 25' 124.44 TO ROW'

SIDE (EAST) 25' 281.03'

SIDE (WEST) 25' 301.62'

REAR (NORTH) 20' 146.50'

CANOPY SETBACK REQUIREMENTS: REQUIRED: PROPOSED:

FRONT 40' 40.27' TO ROW

SIDE 25' 96.32' TO ROW

REAR 20' 245.5'

MINIMUM OPEN SPACE REQUIRED = 20%

GREENSPACE:

IMPERVIOUS AREA = 116,059 SF (2.66 ACRES)

PERVIOUS AREA = 104,900 SF (2.41 ACRES)

PERCENT GREENSPACE ON SITE = 47.5%

PARKING CALCULATIONS:

RETAIL = 1 SPACE PER 150 SF.

TOTAL RETAIL PARKING REQUIRED = 2,071/150 = 14 SPACES

1 SPACE PER 50 SF. FOR CAFE SERVICE AREA = (431+350)/50 =  16 SPACES

TOTAL PARKING REQUIRED = 30 SPACES

TOTAL PROPOSED PARKING SPACES = 30 SPACES INC. 2 H/C SPACES

LOADING CALCULATIONS:

LOADING REQUIRED = 960 SF. PER L.F. OF BUILDING FRONTAGE OR

960 SF. PER BUILDING

LOADING PROVIDED = 960 SF. AT BACK OF BUILDING

GENERAL NOTES:

THESE NOTES APPLY TO ALL CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES ON THIS PROJECT.

1. ALL DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE TO BACK OF CURB, FACE OF SIDEWALK, OUTSIDE FACE

OF BUILDING, PROPERTY LINE, CENTER OF MANHOLE/CATCH BASIN OR CENTERLINE OF

PIPE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. 'NO PARKING-FIRE LANE' SIGNS SHALL BE POSTED ALONG ALL FIRE LANES AT 100 FOOT

INTERVALS OR AS DIRECTED BY THE FIRE OFFICIAL.

3. REFER TO NOTES & DETAILS SHEET FOR ON-SITE PAVING DETAILS.

4. REFER TO NOTES & DETAILS SHEET FOR ON-SITE SIDEWALK RAMP DETAILS

CONCRETE PAVEMENT

ASPHALT PAVEMENT

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER

REVERSE GUTTER PAN

SETBACK LINE

SIGN

LIGHTPOLE

STD
DUTY

HEAVY
DUTY

R.O.W.
ONLY

STD
DUTY

HEAVY
DUTY

LEGEND:CITY OF AUBURN HILLS GENERAL NOTES:

1. ALL LIGHTING SHALL BE SHIELDED AND DIRECTED DOWNWARD AND AWAY FROM

ADJACENT PROPERTIES. THE FACIA OF THE CANOPY WILL NOT BE ILLUMINATED.

LIGHTING SHALL MEET THE THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE NO. 372

2. SIGNS SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE NO. 375

3. ALL MATERAIL, MERCHANDISE, AND EQUIPMENT SHALL BE STORED WITHIN THE

BUILDING, EXCEPT FOR MERCHANDISE STORED OUTSIDE IN THE DESIGNATED

ENCLOSURE AREA, SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: THE DEVELOPER SHALL

THAT THE ITEMS STORED WITHIN THRE OUTSIDE SALES AREA SHALL NOT EXTEND

ABOVE OR BEYOND THE WALLS OF THE MERCHANDISE ENCLOSURE IN A MANNER TO

PROPERLY SCREEN THE CONTENTS FROM VIEW FROM THE ROAD. ITEMS STORED

WITHIN THE ENCLOSURE ARE LIMITED TO ICE CHEST AND PROPANE TANKS.

4. PARKING SPACES SHALL BE DOUBLE STRIPED PER ZONING ORDINANCE NO. 372

5. THE SITE IS UNDER 20 ACRES, AN ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT IS NOT REQ'D.

6. PARCEL #S 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-023, AND 14-04-451-026 WILL NEED TO

BE COMBINED INTO A SINGLE PARCEL

7. THE SALE OR RENTAL OF NEW OR USED CARS, TRUCKS, TRAILERS, AND OTHER

VEHICLES ON THE PREMISES SHALL BE PROHIBITED.

8. THE DEVELOPER SHALL ENSURE THAT OVERNIGHT PARKING OF VEHICLES SHALL NOT

OCCUR AT THE SITE.

9. THE DEVELOPER SHALL COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 2007.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE.

10. THE DEVELOPER SHALL UTILIZE AN UNDERGROUND GREASE CONTAINMENT/TRAP AND

INTERNAL OIL/GREASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (CLOSED LOOP) FOR THE KITCHEN.

ABOVE GROUND GREASE CONTAINMENT SYSTEMS SHALL BE PROHIBITED ON THE SITE.

11. PUD APPROVAL IS REQUIRED, ITEMS THAT NEED TO BE APPROVED WITH THE PUD THAT

DEVIATE FROM THE ZONING CODE ARE:

* FUELING FOR COMMERCIAL (SEMI TRUCK / VEHICLES)

* ALLOW OUTSIDE SALES WITHIN THE SCREENED AREA SOUTH OF THE BUILDING

SIGNAGE CALCS:

PERMITTED: 605 SF TOTAL ((780 LF FRONTAGE / 10) * 8 SF)

PROPOSED: 594.50 SF TOTAL (SEE ARCH PLANS FOR

DETAILED BREAKDOWN OF SIGNAGE)

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 1:

NW RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASOIN WITHIN THE WEST SIDE

OF JOSLYN ROAD AND IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 4.

EL=951.87' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 2:

TOP OF NUT OF FIRE HYDRANT IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 2.

EL=951.66' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 3:

NE RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASIN, BEING 27.7' NW'LY FROM

BM#2 (FIRE HYDRANT) AND IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 2.

EL=951.24' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 4:

NE RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASIN, BEING NEAR THE NE

CORNER OF PARCEL 4.

EL=957.14' (NAVD88).

FLOOD NOTE:
SUBJECT PROPERTY AS DEPICTED HEREIN, DOES

NOT LIE IN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA),

ACCORDING TO FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP

(FIRM) NO. 260263, PANEL NO. 0359, SUFFIX "F",

BEING EFFECTIVE AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2006.

APPLICANT
BILL SAAD PROPOERTIES, LLC

1 WEST JEFFERSON

TRENTON, MICHIGAN 48183

CONTACT:  BILL SAAD

PHONE: (734)-692-0777

EMAIL:  BILLSAAD@MICHIGANFUELS.COM

ADDITIONAL NOTES:

THESE NOTES APPLY TO ALL CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES ON THIS PROJECT.

1. ALL DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE TO BACK OF CURB, FACE OF SIDEWALK, OUTSIDE FACE

OF BUILDING, PROPERTY LINE, CENTER OF MANHOLE/CATCH BASIN OR CENTERLINE OF

PIPE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. REFER TO SHEET C-9.0 FOR ON-SITE PAVING DETAILS.

3. 'NO PARKING-FIRE LANE' SIGNS SHALL BE POSTED ALONG ALL FIRE LANES AT 100 FOOT

INTERVALS OR AS DIRECTED BY THE FIRE OFFICIAL.

4. ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY OF AUBURN HILLS CURRENT

STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CITY ENGINEER AND/OR THE AUTHORITY HAVING

JURISDICTION 3 BUSINESS DAYS PRIOR TO THE BEGINNING OF CONSTRUCTION.

6. ANY WORK WITHIN THE STREET OR HIGHWAY RIGHTS-OF-WAY SHALL BE PERFORMED

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE AGENCIES HAVING JURISDICTION

AND SHALL NOT BEGIN UNTIL ALL NECESSARY PERMITS HAVE BEEN ISSUED FOR THE

WORK.

7. IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO ADJUST THE TOP OF ALL

EXISTING AND PROPOSED STRUCTURES (MANHOLES, CATCH BASINS, INLETS, GATE

WELLS ETC.) WITHIN GRADED AND /OR PAVED AREAS TO FINAL GRADE SHOWN ON THE

PLANS. ALL SUCH ADJUSTMENTS SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THE JOB AND WILL NOT BE

PAID FOR SEPARATELY.



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24

0 15 30 60

SCALE: 1" = 30'

REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

NORTH

C-4.0

PRELIMINARY
GRADING PLAN

GRADING LEGEND:

ABBREVIATIONS

T/C = TOP OF CURB G = GUTTER GRADE

T/P = TOP OF PAVEMENT F.G. = FINISH GRADE

T/S = TOP OF SIDEWALK RIM = RIM ELEVATION

T/W = TOP OF WALL B/W = BOTTOM OF WALL

EXISTING SPOT ELEVATION

PROPOSED SPOT ELEVATION:

TYPICALLY TOP OF PAVEMENT

IN PAVED AREAS, GUTTER GRADE

IN CURB LINES.

EXISTING CONTOUR

PROPOSED CONTOUR

PROPOSED REVERSE GUTTER PAN

PROPOSED RIDGE LINE

PROPOSED SWALE/DITCH

RETAINING WALL NOTE:

TOP OF WALL (T/W) AND BOTTOM OF WALL (B/W) GRADES ARE

THE FINISH GRADE AT THE TOP AND BOTTOM OF THE RETAINING

WALL, NOT ACTUAL TOP AND BOTTOM OF THE WALL STRUCTURE.

EARTHWORK BALANCING NOTE:

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPORTING OR

EXPORTING ALL MATERIALS AS REQUIRED TO PROPERLY GRADE

THIS PROJECT TO THE FINISHED ELEVATIONS SHOWN ON THE

APPROVED PLANS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE THEIR OWN

DETERMINATION OF CUT AND FILL QUANTITIES AND ALLOW FOR

REMOVAL OF EXCESS OR IMPORTATION OF ADDITIONAL

MATERIAL AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO THE OWNER.

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 1:

NW RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASOIN WITHIN THE WEST SIDE

OF JOSLYN ROAD AND IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 4.

EL=951.87' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 2:

TOP OF NUT OF FIRE HYDRANT IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 2.

EL=951.66' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 3:

NE RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASIN, BEING 27.7' NW'LY FROM

BM#2 (FIRE HYDRANT) AND IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 2.

EL=951.24' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 4:

NE RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASIN, BEING NEAR THE NE

CORNER OF PARCEL 4.

EL=957.14' (NAVD88).

FLOOD NOTE:
SUBJECT PROPERTY AS DEPICTED HEREIN, DOES

NOT LIE IN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA),

ACCORDING TO FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP

(FIRM) NO. 260263, PANEL NO. 0359, SUFFIX "F",

BEING EFFECTIVE AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2006.



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24

0 15 30 60

SCALE: 1" = 30'

REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

NORTH

C-6.0

ENGINEERING
SITE PLAN

UTILITY LEGEND:
SITE BENCH MARK NO. 1:

NW RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASOIN WITHIN THE WEST SIDE

OF JOSLYN ROAD AND IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 4.

EL=951.87' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 2:

TOP OF NUT OF FIRE HYDRANT IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 2.

EL=951.66' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 3:

NE RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASIN, BEING 27.7' NW'LY FROM

BM#2 (FIRE HYDRANT) AND IN FRONT OF THE PARCEL 2.

EL=951.24' (NAVD88).

SITE BENCH MARK NO. 4:

NE RIM OF A PAVEMENT CATCH BASIN, BEING NEAR THE NE

CORNER OF PARCEL 4.

EL=957.14' (NAVD88).

FIRE DEPARTMENT NOTES:

1. THE FOUR (4) INCH STEAMER CAPS ON ALL HYDRANTS SHALL BE PAINTED ACCORDING

TO THE FOLLOWING:

WHITE ON 4" MAINS

RED ON 6" MAINS

ORANGE ON 8" MAINS

GREEN ON 12" MAINS

BLUE ON 16" MAINS OR LARGER

2. NO PARKING SHALL BE PERMITTED AND/OR NO OBSTRUCTIONS SHALL BE PLACED OR

CONSTRUCTED WITHIN FIFTEEN (15) FEET OF ANY HYDRANT OR FIRE DEPARTMENT

CONNECTION PUBLIC OR PRIVATE.

3. THE FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION MUST BE LOCATED WITHIN ONE HUNDRED (100)

FEET OF A FIRE HYDRANT AND WITHIN FIFTY (50) FEET OF A MINIMUM TWENTY (20)

FOOT WIDE PAVED DRIVEWAY OR STREET.

4. GAS METERS, PROPANE TANKS, OVERHEAD ELECTRICAL SERVICES, AND

TRANSFORMERS MUST NOT BE LOCATED ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE BUILDING OR

STRUCTURE AS THE FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION UNLESS A CLEAR DISTANCE OF

ONE HUNDRED FIFTY (150) FEET CAN BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN UTILITIES AND THE

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION.

5. ALL DRIVE AREAS MUST BE POSTED AS FIRE LANES WITH UNIFORM SIGNS IN KEEPING

WITH THE STANDARD ESTABLISHED IN THE MICHIGAN MANUAL OF UNIFORM TRAFFIC

CONTROL DEVICES. SIGNS MUST BE ERECTED ON BOTH SIDES OF THE FIRE LANES

WITH SPACING BETWEEN SIGNS NOT EXCEEDING ONE HUNDRED (100) FEET.

6. DESIGNATED EXIT DOORS ONTO DRIVES OR PARKING AREAS MUST BE PROTECTED

WITH GUARD POSTS OR PARKING BLOCKS.

7. A WHITE HIGH VISIBILITY STRIPE SHALL BE PAINTED ON THE UPPER FLANGE OF ALL

FIRE HYDRANTS.

UTILITY NOTES:

1. 12' WIDE PUBLIC EASEMENT SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR THE PUBLIC SECTION

OF WATER MAIN ON AND OFF SITE.

2. ALL PROPOSED GRADE ELEVATIONS INDICATED ARE TOP OF PAVEMENT OR

GUTTER UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE. ADD 0.50' TO ALL PROPOSED

ELEVATIONS TO OBTAIN TOP OF CURB GRADES.

3. PERMANENT STRUCTURES OF ANY TYPE, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO,

TREES, LIGHT POLES, DRAINAGE STRUCTURES, BENCHES, TRASH

RECEPTACLES, ETC., WILL NOT BE ALLOWED WITHIN THE INFLUENCE OF

THE PUBLIC WATER MAIN EASEMENT.

4. 5.5 FEET OF COVER SHALL BE MAINTAINED OVER ALL WATER MAINS.

5. 2.5 FEET OF COVER SHALL BE MAINTAINED OVER ALL STORM SEWER.

6. 4.0 FEET OF COVER SHALL BE MAINTAINED OVER ALL SANITARY SEWER.

7. 18" (MINIMUM) OF VERTICAL CLEARANCE IS REQUIRED BETWEEN UTILITIES.

ADDITIONAL UTILITY NOTES:

1. ALL UTILITY LINES, STRUCTURES AND TRENCHES SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE CITY OF

AUBURN HILLS.

2. NO PHYSICAL CONNECTION TO THE EXISTING WATER MAIN CAN BE MADE UNTIL

ALL NEW WATER MAIN PASSES PRESSURE AND BACTERIOLOGICAL TESTS TO

THE SATISFACTION OF THE CITY.

3. ALL WATER MAIN AND FITTINGS (3" DIAMETER AND LARGER) SHALL BE DUCTILE

IRON CL-54, PVC C909 OR HDPE C906 DR11 PER CITY STANDARDS

4. ALL FIRE HYDRANTS SHALL BE EJIW "WATERMASTER" #5BR MODEL #250 PER CITY

STANDARDS.

5. ALL HYDRANTS TO BE A MINIMUM OF 5' FROM BACK OF CURB, TYP.

6. ALL NECESSARY FITTINGS, THRUST BLOCKS, RESTRAINING GLANDS, BLOW OFFS,

ETC. FOR WATER MAIN ARE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THIS PROJECT. THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL THESE ITEMS AS NECESSARY AND AS REQUIRED

BY THE CITY.

7. THE WATER MAIN CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CONSTRUCTION

DEPARTMENT OF OHM AT (734) 466-4539 AT LEAST THREE WORKING DAYS IN

ADVANCE OF STARTING CONSTRUCTION.

8. ALL SANITARY SEWER 10" OR LARGER SHALL BE P.V.C. TRUSS PIPE (ASTM D2680)

AND FITTINGS, WITH ELASTOMERIC GASKET JOINTS PER ASTM D3212 UNLESS

OTHERWISE NOTED.

9. ALL SANITARY SEWER LEADS SHALL BE POLYVINYL CHLORIDE (PVC) SDR 23.5

PIPE AND FITTINGS. ALL JOINTS TO BE ELASTOMERIC GASKET JOINTS PER ASTM

D3212 UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

10. SANITARY LEADS SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH CLEANOUTS EVERY 100 FEET AND

AT EVERY BEND AS SHOWN. ALL CLEANOUTS TO BE PROVIDED WITH E.J.I.W.

#1565 BOX OR EQUAL.

11. ALL STORM SEWER 12" DIAMETER OR LARGER SHALL BE REINFORCED

CONCRETE PIPE (RCP C-76) CLASS IV WITH MODIFIED TONGUE AND GROOVE

JOINT WITH RUBBER GASKETS UNLESS SPECIFIED OTHERWISE (ASTM C-443).

12. ALL STORM SEWER 10" OR LESS AND/OR LEADS SHALL BE SDR 26.

13. PIPE LENGTHS ARE GIVEN FROM CENTER OF STRUCTURE AND TO END OF

FLARED END SECTION UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

14. THE CITY OF AUBURN HILLS STANDARD DETAIL SHEETS WILL BE INCORPORATED

INTO AND MADE A PART OF THESE PLANS DURING THE ENGINEERING DRAWINGS

PHASE. CONTRACTOR TO REFER TO THE CITY OF AUBURN HILLS STANDARD

DETAIL SHEETS FOR ALL STRUCTURE, PIPE MATERIALS, BEDDING, TESTING, ETC.

NOTES AND DETAILS.

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS STANDARD NOTES:

1. CONSTRUCTION SHALL CONFORM TO CURRENT CITY OF

AUBURN HILLS' STANDARDS.

2. NO WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED WITHOUT INSPECTION.

3. A PERMIT FROM THE DPW IS REQUIRED FOR ALL CONSTRUCTION

WITHIN CITY ROW.

4. ALL CITY STREET MUST BE MAINTAINED DURING

CONSTRUCTION. STREET SHALL BE KEPT FREE OF MUD, DIRT,

CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS, DUST AND THE LIKE. IF CLEAN-UP IS

NOT PERFORMED WITHIN 24 HOURS OF NOTIFICATION, THE CITY

RESERVES THE RIGHT TO PERFORM THE WORK AND CHARGE

THE DEVELOPER ACCORDINGLY.

5. WORKING HOURS (INCLUDING RUNNING OF ANY MACHINERY)

SHALL BE RESTRICTED TO MONDAY THROUGH SATURDAY, 7:00

AM TO 7:00 PM; SUNUP TO SUNDOWN; WHICHEVER IS LESS.

CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS BEYOND THE PERIODS

MENTIONED ABOVE SHALL BE PERMITTED ONLY AFTER WRITTEN

APPROVAL OF THE CITY MANAGER OR HIS DESIGNEE.

6. ALL MATERIALS AND MANUFACTURERS SHALL CONFORM TO THE

STANDARD DETAILS.

7. UTILITY STRUCTURES SHALL NOT BE LOCATED IN DRIVEWAYS,

AND WHERE POSSIBLE, SHALL NOT BE LOCATED IN PAVED

AREAS.

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY ALL UTILITY COMPANIES IN

ACCORDANCE WITH ACT 53 OF P.A. OF 1974 AND ALSO CONTACT

OAKLAND COUNTY UTILITY AND PROTECTION SERVICE (MISS DIG

1-800-482-7171) THREE (3) WORKING DAYS BEFORE THE START

OF ANY CONSTRUCTION.

9. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NECESSARY SIGNS,

BARRICADES AND LIGHTS TO PROTECT TRAFFIC AND THE WORK

AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. SUCH DEVICES SHALL BE

PLACED PRIOR TO STARTING WORK IN AFFECTED AREAS.

10. ALL SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION CONTROLS SHALL BE IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE OAKLAND COUNTY STANDARDS AND

DETAILS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FOLLOW LOCAL RULES AND

REGULATIONS FOR SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION

CONTROL FOR ALL MATERIALS THAT ARE DISPOSED OF OFF OF

THE PROJECT SITE.

11. ALL SOIL EROSION MEASURES MUST BE PROPERLY PLACED

PRIOR TO GRADING OR OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES.

12. FIELD CHANGES TO THE APPROVED PLAN SHALL BE BROUGHT

TO THE ATTENTION OFF THE INSPECTOR ON SITE, WHO WILL

DETERMINE WHETHER THE CHANGE IS CONSIDERED

"SIGNIFICANT". "SIGNIFICANT" FIELD CHANGES SHALL BE

SUBMITTED TO THE CITY BY THE DESIGN ENGINEER. THE CITY

SHALL NOT BE HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR DELAYS IN APPROVAL

OF CHANGES TO THE APPROVED SITE IMPROVEMENT

(ENGINEERING) PLAN.

13. WHERE POSSIBLE, PUBLIC UTILITIES SHALL NOT BE PLACED

UNDER PAVEMENT. THE CITY OF AUBURN HILLS SHALL NOT BE

RESPONSIBLE FOR PAVEMENT, CURB, OR OTHER RESTORATION

OF PERMANENT FACILITIES LOCATED WITHIN THE MUNICIPAL

EASEMENT.

14. 3 WORKING DAYS PRIOR TO STARTING CONSTRUCTION,

CONTACT THE CONSTRUCTION DEPARTMENT OF ORCHARD,

HILTZ & McCLIMENT, INC. AT (734) 466-4539 TO SCHEDULE

INSPECTION. OHM SHALL INSPECT ALL SITE IMPROVEMENTS

INCLUDING UNDERGROUND UTILITY INSTALLATION, EARTHWORK

OPERATIONS, RETAINING WALLS, PAVEMENT IN CITY R.O.W., ALL

SIDEWALKS OR SAFETY PATHS IN ANY PUBLIC R.O.W., AND ANY

ADDITIONAL ITEMS NOTED DURING REVIEW OR AT THE

PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING. FINAL OCCUPANCY MAY BE

AFFECTED IF PROCEDURES ARE NOT FOLLOWED FOR PROPER

INSPECTION.

15. PERMANENT STRUCTURES OF ANY TYPE, INCLUDING BUT NOT

LIMITED TO, TREES, LIGHT POLES, DRAINAGE STRUCTURES,

SANITARY STRUCTURES, BENCHES, TRASH RECEPTACLES, ETC.,

WILL NOT BE ALLOWED WITHIN THE INFLUENCE OF THE PUBLIC

WATER MAIN OR SANITARY SEWER EASEMENTS.



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24

0 15 30 60

SCALE: 1" = 30'

REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

NORTH

C-6.1

DETENTION
BASIN

CALCULATIONS



C-9.0

NOTES AND
DETAILS

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

²

NO PARKING



8

1

C-9.1

DETAILS

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026 C-9.2

DETAILS



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24

0 15 30 60

SCALE: 1" = 30'

REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

NORTH

C-10.0

FIRE TRUCK
MOVEMENT

SIGN LEGEND:

'NO PARKING FIRE LANE' SIGN

REFER TO SHEET C-9.0 FOR DETAILS

GENERAL NOTES:

1. 'NO PARKING-FIRE LANE' SIGNS SHALL BE POSTED ALONG ALL FIRE

LANES AT 100 FOOT INTERVALS OR AS DIRECTED BY THE FIRE OFFICIAL.

CONCRETE PAVEMENT

ASPHALT PAVEMENT

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER

REVERSE GUTTER PAN

SETBACK LINE

SIGN

LIGHTPOLE

STD
DUTY

HEAVY
DUTY

R.O.W.
ONLY

STD
DUTY

HEAVY
DUTY

LEGEND:FIRE DEPARTMENT NOTES:

1. THE FOUR (4) INCH STEAMER CAPS ON ALL HYDRANTS SHALL BE PAINTED ACCORDING

TO THE FOLLOWING:

WHITE ON 4" MAINS

RED ON 6" MAINS

ORANGE ON 8" MAINS

GREEN ON 12" MAINS

BLUE ON 16" MAINS OR LARGER

2. NO PARKING SHALL BE PERMITTED AND/OR NO OBSTRUCTIONS SHALL BE PLACED OR

CONSTRUCTED WITHIN FIFTEEN (15) FEET OF ANY HYDRANT OR FIRE DEPARTMENT

CONNECTION PUBLIC OR PRIVATE.

3. THE FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION MUST BE LOCATED WITHIN ONE HUNDRED (100)

FEET OF A FIRE HYDRANT AND WITHIN FIFTY (50) FEET OF A MINIMUM TWENTY (20)

FOOT WIDE PAVED DRIVEWAY OR STREET.

4. GAS METERS, PROPANE TANKS, OVERHEAD ELECTRICAL SERVICES, AND

TRANSFORMERS MUST NOT BE LOCATED ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE BUILDING OR

STRUCTURE AS THE FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION UNLESS A CLEAR DISTANCE OF

ONE HUNDRED FIFTY (150) FEET CAN BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN UTILITIES AND THE

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION.

5. ALL DRIVE AREAS MUST BE POSTED AS FIRE LANES WITH UNIFORM SIGNS IN KEEPING

WITH THE STANDARD ESTABLISHED IN THE MICHIGAN MANUAL OF UNIFORM TRAFFIC

CONTROL DEVICES. SIGNS MUST BE ERECTED ON BOTH SIDES OF THE FIRE LANES

WITH SPACING BETWEEN SIGNS NOT EXCEEDING ONE HUNDRED (100) FEET.

6. DESIGNATED EXIT DOORS ONTO DRIVES OR PARKING AREAS MUST BE PROTECTED

WITH GUARD POSTS OR PARKING BLOCKS.

7. A WHITE HIGH VISIBILITY STRIPE SHALL BE PAINTED ON THE UPPER FLANGE OF ALL

FIRE HYDRANTS.



B

B

B

B

B
B

B

F

F
F F

F

F

F
F

F F
F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

S

P

P

P
P

P

F

P
O

S
S

IB
L
E

 S
N

O
W

S
T

O
R

A
G

E
 A

R
E

A
P

O
S

S
IB

L
E

 S
N

O
W

S
T
O

R
A

G
E

 A
R

E
A

F

P P

S

PA8
3

PS8
5

PG8
5

TSC8
5

PA8
3

SR2.5
2

PK2.5
3

JH6
14

ARA2.5
3

TB2.5
5

PK2.5
3

PO2.5
4

MV2.5
3

GTS2.5
3

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

BN2.5
3

POSSIBLE SNOW

STORAGE AREA

P
O

S
S

IB
L
E

 S
N

O
W

S
T

O
R

A
G

E
 A

R
E

A

CCF2.5
5

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

B

PS8
2

PS8
2

P

P

CAO2.5
1

NS2.5
1

NS2.5
2

S
S

TOS6
18

P
F

F

F

P

F

F

NS2.5
1

MP2.5
2

QR2.5

3

S

QB2.5

3

PS8
5 CA2.5

3

SR2.5
3

F

NS2.5
4

AG2.5
3

QB2.5

3

P PP

RG24
19

P

LSS2.5
2

PVS2
20

PVS2
17

PF24
41

PVS2
5 SP30

22

L-1.0

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE

PLAN

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24

0 15 30 60

SCALE: 1" = 30'

REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

NORTH

  CL

JLE

TREE DIVERSITY REQUIREMENTS FOR 50-100 TREES: 20% SPECIES AND 40% GENUS

PROVIDED DIVERSITY:  95 TREES MAXIMUM  (19)TREES SPECIES AND (38) TREES GENUS

CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE CONTAINER SPACING REMARKS

DECIDUOUS TREES
ARA2.5 3 ACER RUBRUM 'ARMSTRONG' / ARMSTRONG RED MAPLE 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

BN2.5 3 BETULA NIGRA / RIVER BIRCH-SINGLE STEM 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

CA2.5 3 CARPINUS CAROLINIANA / AMERICAN HORNBEAM 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

CAO2.5 1 CARYA OVATA / SHAGBARK HICKORY 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

GTS2.5 3 GLEDITSIA TRIACANTHOS INERMIS 'SUNCOLE' / SUNBURST HONEY LOCUST 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

LSS2.5 2 LIQUIDAMBAR STYRACIFLUA 'SLENDER SILHOUETTE' / SLENDER SILHOUETTE SWEET GUM 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

NS2.5 8 NYSSA SYLVATICA / TUPELO 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

PO2.5 4 PLATANUS OCCIDENTALIS / AMERICAN SYCAMORE 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

QB2.5 6 QUERCUS BICOLOR / SWAMP WHITE OAK 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

QR2.5 3 QUERCUS RUBRA / RED OAK 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

TB2.5 5 TILIA AMERICANA 'BOULEVARD' / BOULEVARD AMERICAN LINDEN 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

41 SUBTOTAL:

EVERGREEN TREES
PA8 6 PICEA ABIES / NORWAY SPRUCE 8` HT. B&B PER PLAN

PG8 5 PICEA GLAUCA / WHITE SPRUCE 8` HT. B&B PER PLAN

PS8 14 PINUS STROBUS / EASTERN WHITE PINE 8` HT. B&B PER PLAN

TSC8 5 TSUGA CANADENSIS / EASTERN HEMLOCK 8` HT. B&B PER PLAN

30 SUBTOTAL:

ORNAMENTAL TREES
AG2.5 3 AMELANCHIER X GRANDIFLORA 'AUTUMN BRILLIANCE' / AUTUMN BRILLIANCE SERVICEBERRY 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

CCF2.5 5 CERCIS CANADENSIS 'FOREST PANSY' / FOREST PANSY EASTERN REDBUD 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

MV2.5 3 MAGNOLIA VIRGINIANA / SWEETBAY MAGNOLIA 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

MP2.5 2 MALUS X 'PRAIRIFIRE' / PRAIRIFIRE CRABAPPLE 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

PK2.5 6 PRUNUS SERRULATA 'KWANZAN' / KWANZAN JAPANESE FLOWERING CHERRY 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

SR2.5 5 SYRINGA RETICULATA 'IVORY SILK' / IVORY SILK JAPANESE TREE LILAC 2.5" CAL. B&B PER PLAN

24 SUBTOTAL:

PLANT SCHEDULE

CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE CONTAINER SPACING

SHRUBS
JH6 14 JUNIPERUS CHINENSIS 'HETZII COLUMNARIS' / HETZI COLUMN JUNIPER 6` HT. B&B 36"O.C.

PF24 41 POTENTILLA FRUTICOSA 'ABBOTSWOOD' / ABBOTSWOOD BUSH CINQUEFOIL 24" HT. CONT. 36"O.C.

RG24 19 RHUS AROMATICA 'GRO-LOW' / GRO-LOW FRAGRANT SUMAC 24" SPRD CONT. 4` O.C.

SP30 22 SYRINGA PATULA 'MISS KIM' / MISS KIM KOREAN LILAC 2.5` HT. CONT. 5` O.C.

TOS6 18 THUJA OCCIDENTALIS 'SMARAGD' / EMERALD GREEN ARBORVITAE 6` HT. B&B 36"O.C.

114 SUBTOTAL:

PERENNIALS
PVS2 42 PANICUM VIRGATUM 'SHENANDOAH' / SHENANDOAH SWITCH GRASS 1 GAL. POT 30" O.C.

42 SUBTOTAL:

PLANT SCHEDULE

  3% SPECIES;  3% GENUS

  3% SPECIES;  3% GENUS

  3% SPECIES;  3% GENUS

  1% SPECIES; 1% GENUS

  3% SPECIES;  3% GENUS

  2% SPECIES; 2% GENUS

  8% SPECIES; 8 GENUS

  4% SPECIES; 4% GENUS

  6% SPECIES; 9% GENUS

  3% SPECIES;  9% GENUS

  5% SPECIES;  5% GENUS

  6% SPECIES;  11 GENUS

  5% SPECIES;  11 GENUS

  5% SPECIES;  5% GENUS

  14% SPECIES;  14 GENUS

  3% SPECIES;  3% GENUS

  5% SPECIES;  5% GENUS

  3% SPECIES;  3% GENUS

  2% SPECIES; 2% GENUS

  6% SPECIES; 6% GENUS

  5% SPECIES;  5% GENUS



LANDSCAPE
DETAILS

L-1.1

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

JLE

JLE

FOR ALL NATIVE SEED MIXES, PROVIDE EROSION MAT ON SLOPES AND AREAS OF WASH  OUT TYP.

NO INVASIVE OR AGGRESSIVE SPECIES ALLOWED IN ANY NATIVE SEED MIXES.

INSTALL AND PREP PER MANUFACTURES SPECIFICATIONS.

BY STANTEC NATIVE PLANT NURSERY 574-586-2412

stantec.com/native-plant-nursery  OR APPROVED EQUAL

BY STANTEC NATIVE PLANT NURSERY 574-586-2412

stantec.com/native-plant-nursery  OR APPROVED EQUAL
BY STANTEC NATIVE PLANT NURSERY 574-586-2412

stantec.com/native-plant-nursery  OR APPROVED EQUAL



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY

APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR

IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR

DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS

PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

04/30/24REVISED SITE PLAN LAYOUT

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

JOSLYN ROAD
FUEL STATION
3681 JOSLYN ROAD
AUBURN HILLS, MI

BILL SAAD
PROPERTIES, LLC
1 WEST JEFFERSON AVE.
TRENTON, MI 48183

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

BV

JMB

DES. BV

22-1561

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION
SIDWELL # 14-04-451-023,14-04-451-024, 14-04-451-025, 14-04-451-026

NORTH

TREE SURVEY
PLAN

T-1.0












	AGENDA
	4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	April 3, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes

	5. PETITIONERS
	5a. Penske Vehicle Services
	MOTION
	Development Application
	Public Notice
	OHM Engineering Review Letter
	Police Review Letter
	Fire Review Letter
	Woodlands Review Letter
	Citizen Participation Letter
	Citizen Participation Response
	December 15, 1999 Environmental Review Board Meeting Minutes - Excerpt
	December 20, 1999 City Council Meeting Minutes - Excerpt
	Tree Removal History
	April 10, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes - Excerpt
	April 22, 2019 City Council Meeting Minutes - Excerpt
	Illustrated Site Plan
	Revised Building Facade Rendering-1
	Revised Building Facade Rendering-2
	SITE PLAN (10 SHEETS)
	Cover Sheet
	Revised Dimensional Site Plan
	Truck Circulation Plan
	Revised Engineering Plan
	Site Details
	As-Built Landscape Plan
	Revised Landscape Plan
	Landscape Details
	Revised Floor Plan
	Revised Building Elevations


	5b. Joslyn Road Fuel Station (Mobil)
	MOTION
	Development Application
	Letter from Developer

	Public Notice
	OHM Engineering Review Letter
	Police Review Letter
	Fire Review Letter
	Woodlands Review Letter
	Citizen Participation Letter
	Citizen Participation Response
	November 14, 2018 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes - Excerpt
	December 18, 2018 Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Meeting Minutes - Excerpt
	January 14, 2019 City Council Meeting Minutes - Excerpt
	May 16, 2023 Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Meeting Minutes - Excerpt
	Environmental Summary for Property

	Development Agreement - Draft
	Illustrated Site Plan
	Mobil Rendering - Northbound Joslyn Road
	Mobil Rendering - Southbound Joslyn Road
	SITE PLAN (18 SHEETS)
	Cover Sheet
	Existing Conditions
	Dimensional Site Plan
	Grading Plan
	Engineering Site Plan
	Detention Basin Calculations
	Notes and Details
	Details-1
	Details-2
	Fire Truck Movement
	Landscape Plan
	Landscape Details
	Tree Survey Plan
	Building Floor Plan
	Building Elevations-1
	Building Elevations-2
	Gas Canopy Details
	Diesel Truck Canopy Details






